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A jury was duly impaneled and s

FRANCIS B, POSTER, being called
as a witness on behalf of the People, testifie
lows: . ‘ | v o
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY VR. McGUIREB: s
Q@ What is’ybur business? A Barber. A‘v i{?i
Q Whe;eabouts? A 448 Eleventh Avenuq. ;
Q On the 9th of January, 1907, did.yoﬁ,uqoffhii}‘f 1;
ant? A I saw him in my room, yes;'sir. | ' |
Q@ Where is youf’room? A In the rear o:lthaihep; ‘ a
Q Had you known him before that? A iﬂ'i 6ﬁ§§§ﬁ@r§'
yes,'sir. :

JQ Hed you seen him before on that night? G Il!’hi‘
before on that night at about 11 o'clock in'tﬁ; evqniné.

Q Whereabouts? A Lynch's saloon, on the corner qf
Eleventh Aventie and 37th Street.

0 Wag anything éaid or done there betweeh vou and him?

A Yothing more than -- we had a friendly drink togethpr.

Q And then what happened? A In that saloon I saw a
woman there, in thg private entrance there; she appeared to

be in an intoxicated condition, and I asked Mr. Walsh to have a

drink, and Mr. Kelly to ﬁave a drink, trying to make trade

there, I being a new person around there.

THE COURT: Strike that out.
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'@ Go on. A However, this woman asked if lﬁtgw‘

a drink with'me. I asked Mr. Valsh if she was wtﬂh'fn

he says no, but he knew her. So I says, '!bl,' she ulth%

have a drink. After they had had a drink, I left, and ﬁh}ﬁ{
woman followed me out, and asked me to loan her $2. | | ,' -
THE COURT: Strike that out, unlell 1t wtn sutl
in the presence of the defendant.
Q Now, when did you see Walsh next? A At 2 o'cloek 1n
the morning, there was a rap came at the door, and I 1ul'eulmml‘,"“ci
by my first name; I opened the door, supposing it to'bo some-

body =~

- | THE COURT: Strike out ;vha,t ‘the witneli sup=-
posed. } ‘
Q Just-say what you saw? A I opened the door, when I
was taken by the throat and choked into insensibility.
VR. COHEN: I ask that that be gtrickén out .
‘THE, 'COURT : Tﬁat he was choked until he became
1naénsible? I do not see iﬁqﬁ that should not
stand. I do not think that L e can testify that the
insensibilitv was produced by the choking, but I
? | n think he can testify that he became insensible.
k % With that qualification: I allow it.
£ Q Gp on. A I was then taken up, and taken to the wash-

stand, and the blood washed off my face. I had evidently been



assaulted --

THE COURT: Strike out that he had evid

beon.‘ |
THE WITNESS: (Continuing) Well, I hadf”"‘
assaulted, because I was bleeding from the uniﬁ;"
- my face was_swollen.#nd discolored. | 5 ;
0 Who took you %o the}wash-atand? A This'lady.thi£: l_”i'
was in the room at thevtime. o
Q Did you see anybody else there at the timn?’
A VWhile I was Yeing washed off I saw Mr. 'hlsh.lguving the
room at the time. : | ' |
Q Did you see anybody.élae there? A Nobody clai;[;ﬂﬁ;”%
Q Then, what happened? A I went to bed. This woman
told me she was going to the policé station_to-réport >
. THE COURT: Strike thaﬁ out. -
THE WITNESS: (COntinuing) Vory'soon after thaﬁ;
I don't know at what time it was, & police orficér |
came in to see whether I had been assaulted. He
found my condition, and he leff me ==
THE COURT: Strike oﬁt everything except that
the police officer came. The jury is instructed to
disregard it. ' |
0 A police officer came in? A Yes, and saw my condition

0, Do not say what he saw. He came in, and after he came




out, and then what happened? A

“nuultod me . '
Q When did you next see Walsh? A I diﬁuﬁﬁx_‘
ot until he was under arrest. g il
Q Which police officor was ity A Both "f‘f'k
Q Did you have anvy conversation with wﬂ.sh Mh
arrested? A No, sir. | ' 'A  "
Q Was there any property.in:youf room priof“fb £§if§§~;i
trance of these people that was not thor0 ¢r€ar thlykﬁiin"‘
'gone? A My clothing, my vest and pu_\t. M‘@ unbrolh mﬂ'
shirt. The officer brought them 1n.'1 |
- 0 Anything else? A Well, the contents thnt hd W
in these pockets were missing. 54

Q What were the contents? A My watch and chain and the

money .

0 How much money? A Well, about $7. I am not certain

about the amount.

Q This was in the city and county of New York?

A Yes, sir; on the premises.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR . COHEN:
Q How long have you been 'in business in the barber=-shop
on Eleventh Avenue? A Since the 17th of July, 1906. :

Q And this defendant has been a customer of yours, h‘lﬂ‘t
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he? A He has, on and off, yes.

i

Q And you have known him since ihat dtﬁ‘l &  ¥
say what date. He has been an oooaoional cuntoumr.

Q Well, on the 9th day of January, 1907, the day !1
assault occurred, you knew the defendant Walsh? A I'
yes, sir, by sight, but not by name. e

Q@ I do not undefstand what date YOu-said, dhlﬁ_yfﬁf§3§;
ybur store there? A The 17th of July, 1906, I,béﬁght ﬁhﬁjpffﬂgl“
out. i

0 Are you &a married man? A Yes.

0 Do you live there with your family? A Nb, sir.'k

Q@ You have a store, and what is in the rear of;tha:
store? A There is a room in the rear of that store, that I'
occupy‘aa a sleeping room, at that time I occupied 1it.
Q Where does your family live? A In Philndelphit;
Q On the night of the 9th of January, 1907, what time
did you close your store? A At 9 o'eclock.
Q -At 11 o'clock on that night, where were you?
A At 11 o'clock T was on my way home.

' Q Well then, just prior to 11 o'clock when you were on
vour way home, had you been in Lynch's saloon? A Yes, sir,
I had been earlier in the evening, immediately after r closed
my place. | ’

0 Did you go there alone? A Yes.



Q Your store is between dhlt streets? A
Streets.

Q On Eleventh Avenue? A Yes, sir.

Ll Q n the east side of the wuy? A Yes.
Q And Lynch's saloon is where? A On the east tm
the way, the northeast corner of 37th Street'and Eletpuﬂh~‘ia
Avenue. ‘
Q That is up? A Yes.
0 From wherg your store 18? A Yes.
0 Now, when you went to that saloon, which door did you
go to? A I went through the front door.
- 0 Where did you go? A In the saloon,

Q Ves. A Right to the bar.
Q Who) if any one, did youFeé? A I didn't pay any p.r-
ticular att;ntion to whom I saw there. |
Q Well, did you see the defehdant Walsh? A No, a:rs
THE COURT: Now, counsel, you are talking about
the first time he went in the saloon? A ‘
MR. COHFN: It was only once;
THE WITNESS: No, I was there twice.
Q What time did you go there first? A At 9 o'clack;
immediately after closing my place.
Q0 How long did you stay there? A Proﬁ;bly five mlnut‘!o

0 Where did you go when you came out? A To a friend of

J
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mine at 55th Street and Sixth Avenue, Mr. Miles. /
Q@ How many drinks daid you have when you ;Itt i&‘ﬂhﬁ
Street place first? A One.
Q@ Did you go to Mr. Miles' after? A ‘Yoa.: -
Q Did you drink‘there? A No,lthat is not n~'t;§§§;ﬂf:
Q@ What time did you leave Mr. Miles? A Saﬁ.ﬁ&fﬁi' “
about 11 o'clock. i
Q@ Then, where did you go? A Went home.
Q@ To your own store? A No, sir, I was on my way home,
and stoppéd into Lynch's, the same saloon.

Q@ DNow, when you went there the aocond time, ﬂhnt tinﬁ

was it? A About twenty minutes past elevsn, I ehould judsto
@ Now, which door did you go through? A The'lamh door,
the front door. | | : =
Q Who was behind the bar, if you remember? A The bar-
t ender, Peter Lynch.
© Now, do yoﬁ remember any persons who were in that
saloon at that time besides Peter Lynch? A I havan'f any
recollection. I didn't pay any special attention to them,
outside of the two defendants.
Q Wasn't there a woman there? A Yes, sir,,sho was
there.
Q Was there a man named Gallagher there? A I ddu't

know.
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Q Well, were any other persons thoro in m&tiﬁt ﬂ ﬁ

t wo defendants and that woman? A I don't know. I di‘ﬁ*ﬁ ’.V
£ any attention to who they were with.

Q Well, you will not swear there were not other

there? A Well, there were othér persons there, sure.

0 But you do not know who they were? A No, air.,

Q Where was Walsh, this defendant, at the time you cll'
in? A In the sa loon?
Q Yes. A VWhere, at the bar?
Q Yes, in which pért of the saloon? A Somewhere
along the bar there. I don't know, ﬁhanAI came in, I was be-
- : wl
side him.
0 And where was ¥elly at that time? A DBeside ur. Walsh.
Q Talking together? A Talking together.
0 XNow, they were in the rear of the saloon? A Yes.
Q And that was in close proximity to where this woman
was standing? A VYes.
Q Will vou explain to the jury just how this woman was
in the saloon? A There was an entrance, then you come, just
s sav here is the office -~ you couldujust see her'chp and hér

body, but you could not see her limbs.
Q You say she was conversing with these two men at that

time? A Yot necessarily.



Q But was she? A No, sir, she was ojuvcrdﬁ-ngghg;.‘;a‘ -
body that would listen to her. L Sl
0 Well, she was conversing with these men, among Q‘&iﬂi@f%
A Yes, sir, among other people, she did. . g
Q And when you came, did you enter into eonvcrs#tipn»yiﬁﬁ
Keily or Walsh or the woman? A TNothing more than‘fo Iik'fﬁiﬂg-;»-mh
to have a drink. | | :
O +8 that the first thing that was said byeither_!id"dg

A Yes, sir. As far as I can remember.

Q And they had drinks with you? A Yes, sir.
Q Did the woman? A Yes, sir. _
Q Now, who went away first; just confine youfnolf“to'
the four persons, Kelly, Walsh, the woman and yourpe;f.
A I did. |
Q Had you been talking to the woman up to that fimb;
I mean‘without the others entering into the conversation?
A No.
Q Now, isn't it a fact that Walsh went away first?
A Yo, sir.
Q Well, do you remember? A I positively remomher,thit
I left that saloon before either of the four people concerned.
Q@ And vou left these two defendants, that is, Kelly and
Walsh, and the woman in practica lly the same position that

they were in when you entered the saloon? A Yes, sir.



@ Now, you say that the woman f ollowed you mm m
for $2? A She came out and asked me to loan hnr ‘&g !!9.
iy | |

| 0 Had you not at that time talked with her m‘d umw
to accompany you? A - Not that I remember .
Q Well, you were not 1ntoxicated were you? A Ho, iﬁ?

Q Well, why do you say "not that you rqmulbcr'? A ‘bllf

I Xhow I did not.

BY THE COURT:

Q‘ Are you sure of that? A I am positive. Tha§ is thﬁ
best way to speak.
BY MR. COHEN:

Q Well, do you mean to say that it is podaiblé that you
might have requested her to accompany‘you? A I did not request
her to acc ompany me, no, sir, t |
Q Well, befofe‘you went out mmk of the-saloon;"as she
right with you? A She came out, as I did; she came out that
side door and I went out the front door. : |
Q And you had about half a block to go to your home?

A Yes, sir.
Q And she walked with you to your home? A 'Yos, sir.
Q And did she or did sle not enter your apartment?
A- She entered the apartment with me.

Q At that time, where were the defendants? A I do not



know. We left th.i in the saloon.

' Q Now, you say you left them in the aulobn-"hiii*%'ji‘ffV]

and she go out together for the purpose of going to your home?

"h A I say I went out first, and she followed artor‘mo; 7
Q Well now, her advances to you were all-fodootnd.wikiﬁ
they, by you? A No, sir. ' “ 0 s
Q And you were willing to have her accampdnyvﬁou,Ai? d§i¥i 'tﬁ
would? A I say, bécause she was s0 boisterous, so nolsy == .
Q Now, when she got out in the street, you continued to
talk to her? A I took her into my place, becuua§ of yjr noisi-
Q ‘Is that the best answer you can giie. for tu?ing her iy
" into your apertment? A Yes, sir. ;
Q It is not because you wanted to haie intercourse with
ner, or anything like that, is it? A No, sir.
Q Well, you did take her into your rooms? A Yes.,
Q And vou did take off your cloﬁhing? A I did.
Q Am she took off her clothing? A ©No, sir.
0 Or part of it? A Vo,
Q When you removed your clothing, where was she?
- A Sitting on & chair.

Q@ And did you go to bed while she was sitting 1in the
chair? A ©She was asleep when I went to bed, yes, sir.
Q How long did you amd she talk before you finaily di-

vested yourself of your clothing? A Probably twenty minutes.
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Q@ But was she? A No, sir, she was omwMMW

body that would listen to her.

0 Well, she was conversing with these men, ilﬂht‘iﬁiﬁﬁi@

A Yes, sir, among other people, she did. ‘ ’ |

Q And when you came, did you enter into oonvcrlgtlpﬁar_

Kelly of Walsh or the woman? A TYNothing more than‘fo Ink,f”i
‘to have a drink.- '
0 +8 that the first thing that was said by eitharAli&i’lg

A Yes, sir. As far as I can remember.

Q And they had drinks with you? A Yes, sir.
Q Did the woman? A Yes, sir. |
Q Now, who went away first; just confine ynuficlr"tof'
the four persons, Kelly, Walsh, the woman and youfse}f.
A 'X-dide .
Q Had you been talking to the woman up to that fimp;
I mean without the others entering into the conversation?
A No.
Q Now, isn't it a fact that Walsh went away first?
A. No, sir. :
Q Well, do you remember? A I positively remember thﬁt
I left that saloon before either of the four peqplo concerned .
Q And you left these two defendants, that is, Kelly and
Walsh, and the woman in practically the same poaition that

they were in when you entered the ealoon?' A Yes, sir.,
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Q Now, you say that the woman f ollowed you Mw m
for $2? A ©She came out and asked me to loan hnr '!y vl!,
e, | |
| Q Had you not at that time talked with her and Il&ﬁ‘i"¥
to accampany you? A . Not that I remember .
Q Well, you were not 1ntoxicatad were you? A Ho,
Q Well, why do you say "not that you remanher'? A 'ill;

I ¥how I d4did not.

BY THE COURT:

Q Are you sure of that? A I am positive. That il tho
best way to speak.
BY MR. COHEN:

Q Well, dvo yvou mean to say that it is poéaibl; that you
might have requested her to accompa.ny' yvou? A I did not request
her to acc ompany me, no, sir, : .‘ |
Q Well, before you went out mmk of the ‘uloon," was she
right with you? A She came out, as I did; she came out that

side door and I went out the front door.

@ And you had about half a block to go tb your home?
A Yes, sir.

Q And she walked with you to your home? A Yes, sir.

Q And did she or did she not enter your apartment? -
A* She entered the apartment with me.

Q At that time, where were the defendants? A I do not
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know. We left them in the saloon.
' @ Now, you say you left them in the saloon. Didn't y
and she go out together for the purpose of going tb'wm !'

A I say I went out first, and she followed after me.

RIS
X

Q@ Well now, her advances to you were all 'rejo'atod, were

they, by you? A No, sir.

Q And you were willing to have her accompany you, if ‘ﬁi‘;7 i

would? A I say, bécause she was s0 boisterous, S0 noisy ==

Q Now, when she got out in the street, you continued to
talk to her? A I took her into my place, because of hlr_noiai.

0 ‘Is that the best answer you can gife,:for td?ing her :‘
into your apertment? A Yes, sir. |

Q It is not because vou wanted to have intercourse with
hef, or anything like that, is it? A No, sir.

Q Well, you did take her into your rooms? A Yes,

Q And you did take off your clofhing? A T ase.

Q Amd she took off her clothing? A No, sir.

Q Or part of it? A No.

Q When you removed your clothing, where was she?
A 8itting on a chair.

Q@ And did you go to bed while she was sitting in the
chair? A She was asleep when‘i went to bed, yes, sir.

Q How long did you amd she talk before you finally di-

vested yourself of your clothing? A Probabiy twenty minutes.




Was she drunk or sober? A She wtn‘kuﬁ?&
no place to stop. . ',i5’ -g
- Q And for that reason, you, a married m-n,'Ii
to stay in your room? A Yes. |
Q Did &ou lock the door? A Yes.

0, Have you a bed in the apartment? A Yes.

Q Did she occupy it? A No, sir.

Q At any time? A No, sir. .

Q Did you? A I did.

Q Were you drunk? A No, sir.

Q Did you have intercéura with her th§t~evon1ng? | ;

A No, sir.

RY THE COURT:

Q@ Was she in the same rocm with you? A Yes, sir.
BY MR. COHEN:

Q bShe was a young woman? A I don't know how old she

was ..
) Was she a white woman or colored? A A white womsn.
Q Have you ever seen her before? A No, sir.
Q Or since? A VNever.

Q Did you go to sleep? A Yes.
Did you fall tight asleep?‘ A Yes, sir.

€ Was she asleep before you went to sleep? A I supposed

she was.
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Q Well now, how much of your clothing da i

R oy

without golng into details; I mean, did you take off m

trousers? A Yes.

Ll Q Your coat and vest? A Yes, coat and vest and m
Q@ And what, if anything, became of the key to the e
ment ? A That was in my trousers pocket. v
Q Now, when you were undressing, this women also was W
dressing? A I suppose she was asléep. | < .
Q Well, you won't swear she was asleep? A I can't
swear to it. I can't aﬁear anybody is asleep. '
Q Now, which way did you enter that sfore, the frbht deo,r
- i or through the -side door? A The front door.. - .
BY THE COURT:
Q Is there a side door to that store? A Yes, sir/
BY MR, COHEN:
Q Was that side door used by you to go into the place? ‘
A No, sir. |
Q How mﬁny keys did you have when you opened this fron*!:
door, so that she might have seen them? A I had a bunch.
. I have them in my pocket now.

Q Let us see them? A There they are (indicating).
The largest key is the key of the store.
Q Now, this bunch of keys that you hand me, contains

a key which opens into the store fram the street? A Yes,sir.



Q@ And also a key that opens the do@f‘th‘*i'.t |
your premises from the hall? A No, sir.

Q Well does this bunch of keys contain a hy M m

the person into your apartment in any other way? A Thm
only one key connected with that placé there, and thlt “ﬁi
large key. : |

Q What time, if you imow, were you awakenéd?_ A Abaut
2 o'clock.

@ How do you fix the hour? A I have no :ldoaltt fixing
the hour, any more than whén I was over at the police station

after the arrest was made; and I judge that to be about an

hour after.
BY ¥R, CCOHEN:

Q ‘And that was what time you got $e the police station?

A About 3 o'clock.,

@ Do you know how long you stayed at the saloon drinking "
before you went to your room? A The second time I was there?
Q VYese A Probably twenty minutes.

¢

Q What were you drinking? A Whiskey.

BY THE COURT :

Q What door did you go to when you heard thg knock?

A That rear door where the knock was; the rear door leading

directly to my rcom.
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Q Where did you get the key to Oyiuf';ﬁ

A It does not require a key. It is a lrriﬁl

Q And you opened it? A Yes:

Q And do you know whether you opened it =

R

e ~opened it? A I opened it.
Q Was the woman there when the knock em‘!
Q You 6p§ned this fro‘nt ddc;r, té go vin'.bfsn_ ymr
A Yes, sir. s
v Q And was'anybody 1.n the street at tﬁlt tim?
A I don't know.. | , - J
- Q You did not look? ‘A No, ,sir;
Q@ Is this rear room shut -of.f from the street by t.
partitioq? A No,”éir, there is a hall door le,ad‘in'g t»d"itf..
Q@ And this room containing ’your' Gﬁbed ,c;nnot be. seen by
passersby in the street? A No, svir. |
BY THE COURT: : |
Q@ It is on the grouﬁd floor'? A Yes, sir'.
Q And on the side of your store there 1s a hallway t‘h“at,
: leads through the building? A VYes, sir.
- <

Q And the room you speak of is invth\e back of the store?

A Yes, sir.

-

Q And there is a door that leads from the room into the

hallway? And also another door leading from the room into the



store, is that right? A Yes, sir.

Q And the knock on the door was t‘tﬁiﬁt 
ing from the room intb the hall? A VYes, lﬁ'.,
BY MR . COHEN

0 You say you personally oponod the door bm
tha keys for the store? A Yes, sir.

Q Now, what sort of lock is that? A I don't lﬁobv
kind of a lock it is. _ ‘

Q@ Well, are ybu sure you locked fhe door_ifiqr‘ybﬁ i§;;;
this woman came in? A I am positive. | Tah

Q What would make you so positive? A I have never left

3L- - 1t open before or since.

Q Is that the onf& reason? A Yes, sir, thnt'z‘thevahaj

reasor, and nobody entered that door or left it after T closed

it.
Q Well, you and the women came‘into your‘stofoi‘ A Yes.
Q ¥Yow, is there any reason, except the fact thlt}}ou_
a2 lways locked that door, that would lead vou to thn‘conclusion
that yvou positively locked the door that night? A 'bl}, what
reason could I say =- '
THE COURT: Now, coungel, wants to know whe ther
you remember as a distinct fact that you did loek the
door, after you came in, or whcthog you merely niy

now that you did lock it becaue you generally lock it.



‘A I say positively that I locked it.
"BY MR, COHEN:

0 XNow, when this knock élll; did you speak
or say anything to her7 A Yo, sir, I dtﬁn;t»hﬂvfg
talk to ahybody. I supposed it was sonn‘trionlffj

Q I ask you, did you speak to the wbman ihgﬂlﬁﬁmﬁ
‘came? A No,‘sir. | \
) Did she awaken yvou? A No, sir. .

Q Was she awake when the knock came? AT doa‘t}u
I did not look in her direction.

0 Do you knoi whether or not thia wpmin, #hh&viffiki
is, had opened these doors, either the front or s ide 4 
while you were asleep? A She could . not open the rrau$ doer:*?:
without she'had my kgy.

Q Your keys were in your trousers? A Yes,

Q And your trousers were wﬁere? A Lying on a chair.

@ VWhere she could have reached them? A Yes, she could
have reache@ them.

O, And she could have reached to your watch and chain?
A Everything that was there. : .

‘Q Everything that was therg she could have taken?
A Yes, sire.
0 Now, when the knock came, you got up out of bed?

‘A Yes, sir.




same tiu. or whether you uid"anﬁhtng‘tb“w

'_Gity?

0 Vell,lyou do not know very many people i@1;  
borhood, do you? A Just customers. | ‘

Q Tell me the name of any peraon on the flenfz
that you would expect to call you at that hour? A

Q Ygs. A Well, I -haven't any idea l'vh;.o‘ wuuga
that hour.

Q And notwithstanding the fact that you ‘nr. &u yuwr
room there with a strange woman, the mannnt thn
opened the door? A Yes, sir.

Q Now, do you remember Openiﬁg the door? A I ao',..
membqr positively opening the door.

Q

v

Do you remember who stood at the door when you optn.d
it? A Yo, I could not see anybody.
BY THE COURT: \

Q Was there a light in your room? A Yes, sir.

0 And you do not know who the persons were who were at
your door, dohyou? A Yo, sir.

Q Was there a person standing in front of the open door
when you opened it? A I could not see; Jugﬁ as soon as the

door was opened I was taken by the throat, and then the door

was between me and the person who had me.



were taken by the throat? A Yes, sir.
BY MR . COHEN:
0 Did vou have your clothes on? A No, eir.
0 You are a man of pretty weak eyesight? A ~fba,ﬁ
0 And without your glasses you cannot.gonroely li.f 5 “
A ¥No, I can tell the time without my glasses. ' '
Q Well, it was dark? A Yes, sif.
Q It.was about haﬁ? past two o'clock in the aprnint?i
A Yes. | ; :
,Q.‘And you were without your giasées? A ‘Yus,’iir;‘

Q And vou had just been awakehed from yvour sleep?

A ‘Yes, sir.

Q Now, will you swear it was not the woman that grabbed
you by the throat? A I am positive it was not the.wdmnn;

Q Why; because why? A Because she was behind me; she
could not come in front of me.

Q ©She was & large woman? A She appeared about my size.

Q Well, did she appear to be a strong woman?
A No, sir,

Q You say the fact that she was behind b A (Intérrupte
ing). I am positive she did not grab me by the throgt.

.Q Why are vou pogitive she did not grab you by the



Q So that, because she was in the roh ‘ﬂw Gy

-
J ) o
bo. i,

occurred, you are positive it was nat the m? A ! m
drawn out into the hall by the assaultf ;
Q\‘What.became of the men? A‘:I don't knnf{if}:§; 

Q Do you know which man, or who are the muﬁ& mm

Ko dnia A el skt ' R

BY THF COURT: / |

Q@ Do you know that there was more than 0§i'm§n'ta’§h§;

hall? A Yes, sir.

Q Fow do you know? A I heard two voices.,

- ~ BY MR. COHEN:

Q You heard two voices? A Yes, sir.

Q Do you know whose voices they Were?A.Av No sir.
BY THE COURT:

Q Had you ever heard them before? A I can't say thgt'I o
had . o
BY MR, COHEN:

0 Did the woman say anything?‘ A No, sir.

@ Did they speak to her? A No, sgir.

Q »Now; you know that these fwo defendants had been talke
ing to this woman in the saloon? A Yes, sir, | '

=Y

0, And she made no outcry that you remember? A ‘83. tald



them to stop. e '

Q@ Told them to stop? A Yes.
Q Now, you remember that this woman went tﬁp
™ station, do you? Yes, éfter‘tho arrest she went to the

7
police station.

Q You remember that the defendant was_thert'giﬁ#ég
A Yes, sir. | | ‘A | | |
Q Don't you remember that she said thht”ﬁilﬁh h@d‘ ﬂi:z?
nothing to do with 1t? A I do, indeed. : .
Q And don't you remember that she aaid tﬁﬁt Kblly'li“ihﬁ; f
man that did this? A Yes, ‘ o
’ : . 0 Don't you remember that she said tha%»!@lﬁﬁﬂi@i_
o there when it happened? A That is what IAremembafa
@ Have you tried to find this woman? A No, sir.
0 Now, the only thing you know about Walsh is this, that
while you were bging washed off, or when you were racovoriﬁg
from your unconscious condition, Waish was there helping to
wash vou off? A I did not see him helping me at all. I saw
him leave the room, that's all.

] B iy

Q - Through which door? A Through the rear door. .
BY THE COURT: .

@ And that was how long after you had been grabbed by
the throat? A Well, immediately after I became conscious.

Q ‘You do not know how.long you were unconscious?



T
i

A YNo, sir.

et ¥
Tl

. .You do not know the time you were Gflbbi‘iy“il.
throat? A No, sir.
: BY MR. COHEN: |
Q Now, you say that you saw Walsh do this, leave th@u ;

room? A Yes, sir.

Q When you became conscious? A Yes, sir.

Q Did you have your clothes on then? A No, nlr.

Q Was it still dark? A There was light in the rémﬁi‘
@ Did vou see his face, or the back of his hdad?

A I saw him leaving; I saw his side face;

0 You saw the side face of a man? A Yéa;

0 At that time? A Yes.

0 And vour best opinion now is that it was Walsh?
A Yes, sir. |

Q You are not sureé A I am sure.

0 Why? A Because I knew the man. s

Q You knew the man? A Yes, I had seen him in the cfené__
ing, and knew him as a customer.

Q You say you did not have your clothes on? A I did not.

Q How far away from you was he when you were leaving
the room? A As far as you are,

BY THE COURT:

Q But you had not recognized his face in the hall?



A No, sir.

BY MR . COHXEN: ; \

Q What is that? A There were two voices oalua}ﬁw
my first name. |

'O When you say he was as far as I am from you, would
you say the distance of 15 feet? A I don't know.

Q vfell, is it ,15, feet fram you to where I am?
A I don't know.

Q Well, what is your best opinion; 'is it about i5 tioif
A Idon't know.
Q Well, is it 10 feet? A 10, : _'

Q. Wil1 you stick to that, thkt Giie s ahodk Gt
distance away from you when you identif ied him as Walsh?
A Yes, about 10 feet. |

0 That was in this rear room? A Yes.

Q@ How large is that rear room?. A Weil, 1magino‘1t'is
about 12 by 15; something like that.

Q éo that, hé was very neariy the entire space of the
room away from you? A Yes.

Q@ And the mere fact -~ you did not get é good look at
his face at al1l? A I did not see the front of his face.

€ And although you did not see the front of his face, md’
although he was 15 feet away from you, and you had just been

recovering from unconsciousness, you are willing to swear that
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this man that went out was this man Walsh? A

was about 10 feet away fram me.

Q You remember when you came before the Po
- you? A Yes, sair.
Q Do you remember who had been cross oxlﬁinni“ﬁ’
To;nsend, who appeared for this man in'tha l’elita‘o't‘!".'ﬂ,lt,“}.;~
A Yes, sir. i
Q Do you femenber that the off icer had a cbwvii'm
with you, in which he called your attention fO'tha'fdéfgf;ﬂ"
you‘should have identified Walsh as one of the ﬂzfchﬂia&ﬁ?:
A That he said to me? i »
’§£~ ~ Q Didn't he say to you "Why didn't you.tdentifyﬂﬁﬁf;v
as one of thése defendants"? A No, he did not aayvthat.,
Q What did he say to you?v A Hé said'to<ms "You did not

say that you were certain when you are, that you saw Walsh".

Q The officer said to you "You did not say‘y0u~ilrb
‘certain it was Walsh when you are cértain"? A *Iheh y@u
told me you were certaih". v

Q Yes, you had told the offiqgr you were certain'iﬁ'iul
Walsh? A Yes.

Q@ When you went to the Police Court ybu were not dertain?
A Upon cross examination of the attorney, and my firotilx- ‘

perience in court, I was confused.

MR. COHEN: T ask to strike that out. o R



A I was certain, but the sttorney putting questions to me 1&

THE COURT: You are asking him why he was not
certain, and he is telling you. V '

Q0 Tell us why you said to the offioer; just gfi‘“@hb
explanation you were about to give? A What.oxplan&tleaf
BY THE COURT: |

Q You were telling us why you were not certain?

the manner | *e did, he had me confused in saying th&t I thnudht
I was certain. ”’) . ‘
BY MR . COHEN :

0 Well, what did he say now to you,~th&§—made you appear
uncertaiﬁ? A I can't reéall just what he did saye.: |

Q@ He made you say, didn't he, that you only thought it
ws Walsh? A No, I did not say that. I saild I thought I
was certain. |

Q That is to say, you testified then that you thought
yvou were certain? A Yes.

0 Now, didn't you say positively in the Policeﬂcburt that
you‘nould not say that that the defendﬁnt Walsh was the man?
A I did not say that. To whém did I say that?

Q6 I ask vou now. Didn't you say to Magistrate Whitman
at the Police Court, thét vou were not sure, and you would not
swear that Walsh was the man? A That assaulted me?

0 Yes. A That assaulted me? Yes, I say so now,

o




Q@ Then, the only thing I understand, your tm

the only thing you are willing te swear to is that iﬂ

your premises immediately after you returned to cc

mahvu are willing to swear most positively was Walsh?
A Yes, sir. »

Q Now, that is the whole story, fsn's $a¢ A !hwbh
the whole story. e 7

Q And more than that regarding Walsh you do not kucw‘?

A No, sir. |
Q Ahd vou do not know that Walsh is one of the men that
assaulted you, do you? ‘A ™No, | Sl
Q You do not mean to have the jury understand ;tha.t lahh
is one of the men that assaulted you? A No, sir.

Q@ You do not know but what this woman had called frdm

the str et for help, and .that Walsh came to her assistance or
your assistance? A I don't think so. I am not sure, no.

Q Now, you remenber that Walsh was taken to the Police
Station? A Yes.

0 And you testified, what thﬁs woman said, that Walsh
had nothhing to do with it; you remember Walsh was searched?
A Yes. .

0 And no watch and chain were found on Walsh, was there?

A No, sir.
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way connected with him at al1l? A These thin&';“"'ﬁf ﬂH

Q Were your trousers found near him or by him,

in fram the hall by the officer.
Q Now, what was the first you knew of the a?f@iff»‘
de fendant? A When the woman came back_fbr mﬁ Iui7t6ii5iﬁ“ {ix‘”
come outside to identify themn. ' ‘ _
Q To identify WalSh?™ A To identify the ﬁrtﬁ#ﬁn?‘,@thn‘j
defendants. : .

0 Were they both arrested at that time? A Yes.

Q There was no knife found on this defeﬂdantsAﬂﬂtﬁﬁfé

A Yes, sir, I believe there was. I didn't sée;then lﬁlfdhiﬁ;y7‘

Q You do not know wheiher there was a knife or not?

A T did not see the men searcheds | Gl

Q This time that yoﬁ"were brought out fo identify the
defendants, how many minutes or hours was it after thq assault?
A T don't know.

Q Was it an hour? A It was 3 o'clock at the Police
Court, when I arrived there, and I suppose the assaudt had been
an hour before. That is the only measure I had of the time.

"Q Well, was the front door opened, if you know, the
front door of the barber shop, after the ﬁime vou came in with

this woman? A No, sir. .tjgw



not? A It was not, unless it:iiﬁf
asleep. : . % ,

Q That is what I mean. I say, do y@n;tiiy:A
l' THE COUﬁT: You_have his un:ﬁnr,?,A

Q Did you walk in or out.of that door at '&

= that? A Not until 7 o'clock in the morning.
&



AFTER RECESS. b

Trial resumed.

FPRANCIS B:s FOSBTER, a witness on b.htif'§§ iJ”
People, resumes the witness stand: |
CROSS EXAMINATION CONTIﬁUED BY MR . COHEN:
0 You testified that when you were restoreﬁ tﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁéﬂg
sciousness, that you saw the defendant Whishlﬁ;:iit "iy;iéﬁuhw-fli
ing out of the door? A I saw him walk out of tﬁt.doﬁrqfv |

‘ Q Do you know whether or not there were any other men  i“

in the room, or had been in the room at thntvtimng—ér up to

the time you say you saw Walsh coming out? A No, sir.
Q@ You do not kxnow? A No, sir.

0 at is to say, there may have been other men?

A I don\t know.

DIRECT WXAMINATION BY MR. McGUIRE:
0 Officer, you are attached to the 20th Precinct of this
city? A Yes, sir.
Q on the 9th of January, this year, did vou arrest the
defendant? A Yes, sir.
Q ‘State the circunstances leading up to tho arrest; whon
did vou f}rst see him on that night? A About half past one

|



on the morning of the 9th of January, I m

Tenth Avenue. I saw Walsh and & man whom I 8

nized as Kelly come from the hallway of 448 Ih: ,
) . They walked south.
et BY MR. COHEN: !
/ Q@ I could not hear vmat you said. A
THE COURT: Fe said he was coming al

Avenue and he saw them coming out . ot t‘hc M’

THE WITNBSS: G\es, your Homor, m Iliv.nﬂ'l
Avenue . R WAL o
BY MR. McGUIRE:

Q@ What avenue were you on_‘at‘ 'thg_.ﬂ-tin;;‘e? A On»ﬂlpvséﬁth»

P - Avenue. I saw; Walsh and ?ell coming from the hllluyﬁ’

448 Eleventh Avenue. | | v »

Q Is that a f lat house t'here‘? A Yes, it is a tonément'

jort .

house. .

Q@ And that is where Foster's barber shop is? A Yes,sir.

Q Go on. R stood at thé corner of 37th Street and
Eleventh Ayenue, and Walsh and Kelly walked ééuth, towards 36th
Street, andw about ten or fifteen minutes after, a woman ca.nioA
along and informed me that a man had been asaaﬁlt@d --'.

/ THE COURT: Strike that out, what the woman
informed the witness.

Q What did you do then? A I went and investigated, and

I found Mr. Foster lying 'in bed.



G, ﬂut condition was he in? A His a
ﬁth blood.

I asked him if he knew il s
Q@ No, do not say what you said to him. 'hci?&ﬁi

next see Walsh? A About an hour after. o
Q@ Where? A I saw Walsh and ¥elly can;ngvﬁhfiﬁﬂ;iﬁsh

Avenue.

g

Q VWhereabouts? A At 37th Street and Bleventh Avenue.
Q Go on. A I placed them under arrest, and asked thn

if thev™®ad been in 448 Eleventh Avenue, ind-thoyvdbiﬂ,ﬁ

- ,
said tﬁey had not been in there that night. 1 made a‘hf"
of them and f'ound the watch and chain on Kelly, whichfﬂﬁggaﬁQQI
quently identif ied by Mr. Foster as h,is'property. ‘

‘ rou find anything on Walsh? A Only a knife. I

found a long knife on Walsh. | '
Q Let ué see it. 1Is that it (ahowing)? A That is the
knife. .
- Q Was it open or closed? A Closed.

0 When you arrested ?alsh and Kelly, how far apart were
they standing? A They were riqﬁ% together..
Q@ Did you have any conversation with either ot‘ghnu!

A I diad,



Wanamaker .

Q@ Who is outside now? A Yes.

doing there. They said they were not in then l.i't

night . Thev claimed that they were in a ttlool:t 

CQOQ% EXAVINATION BY MR. COHEN Py
0 Now, did you make this arroat, or did 0ff£00? 7
maker make it? A Both together.
Q@ And you say that about half puat elovan,
ing at 37th Street and Fleventh Avenue? A No, I dtd nntf’
half past eleven.
Q What time wéé it? A I sald about'halt.paut §n0 1n t$§ ;
morning. - |
'Q And how awav from the corner of %37th Street and
Eleventh Avenue, where you were standing, 13.448 Elovohth,'
Avenue? A It is about the middle of the block, betwaon'36th.
and 37th Streets.
Q Wnat sort of night was this? A Well, it was not &
very bright night.
Q Was it stormyi A No.

Q. Snow or rain? A'No, it was a clear night.
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Q Did anybody‘elae come out of that hﬂuﬂ§y ¢wHa'
ttme? A Nobody else came out of there. & i
Q That you saw? A No, they could not have oﬁlh ‘:
of there without me seeing them.
Q Well, you were not paying any attention to ugyf;
;ticular»person or house at that time? A Artef'Iﬁyﬁf:,;
notified of the robvery 1 was, ‘ i
Q When were vou notified of the robbery? A  £5wﬁ§5i9&C
15 minutes afterward. Q e

Q After these men coming out ? A Yes.

Q@ Bo, I say, that 10 or 15 minutes before you were nﬁfiﬁ_ 3
fied, you were not paying any particular attention to ﬁifﬁsri
c oming out of the house? A No, but I wes facing in the di~
rection, most of the time..

Q Now, did any other persons enter in there, any other
nouse on that block about that time? A No, I didn't see any.

Q So that, how long would you sa&,'altogother, you‘had
your eyes turnéd in that one direction wgtching people coming
out of any particular house on that street? A About, prob-
ably five minutes or ten minutes.

Q And for all you know, people may have gone in and out
of 448 Eleventh Avenue without you noticing them? A Well,

T didn,t see any going in or out.

Q That is to say, all you saw was two men coming out?



A~y L

Yes.
0 How many feet were you distant? A-!?f 

three feet of them as I was passing byve.

house? A Yes, thatts where I arrested them, but B@* e
came out of the house. | | 7

Q Didn't you say ydu were standing on the corn.r?ileﬁiﬁ
Street and Eleventh Avenue when you saw two mon‘ca-ini'ouiiﬁiff

448 ? A Yo, I did not say that.

Q@ You did not say that? A No, I did not. I ‘;s';tlné“
there whén_I afreéted them, when Ilsaw thcﬂ>gog&é§ﬁ"ﬁ4
avenue about an hour after.

Q DNow, you say ybu did not testify that way? 'A'I say I 
did not.-

0 You want to cﬁange vour testimony? A I do not. I eay
I stood at the corner and saw them walk down towards 36th étro@t

Q That 1is ﬁhat I am asking you. A Yes.

0 You were standing on the cormer of 37£h Street and
Eleventh Avenue, and you saw them? AA No, 'I saw them come out,
as T say, as I was passing a long the avenue, as I was ﬁassing h
in front of the house. |
BY THE COURT:

Q Where were you when they came out of the door?



A T was passing along, right in front of the door.

BY MR. COHEN:

L

0 You were? A Yes.
‘ Q You were within how many feet of these nnnf‘
A A couple of feet. |
Q0 Well, what'is this testiﬁony about your'béiﬂkwi_.
corner? A I stood at the corner of 37th _'Stro'ot- -M n«u
Avenue . ' L
Q Before. you arrested them or after? A Ajfter. _I lrrtltﬂ
them. | -
Q Now,.you did not meen that, after you_arr.stod them?

- A Before I arrested them. ; i : e

O You do not mean that at ally do you, after you arfqatd ; :
thém you stood at the corner? A No, I stoodiat the corner
before I arrested them, and stood there after I arrested them.

O And you were standing at the corner when you saw them
coming. out of the hallway? A No, I wms go;ng up Eleventh
Avenue, passing the house as they cgme out. |

Q You‘ were? A Yes.

Q@ Who was with vou? A Nobody.

Q Where was Officer Wanamaker? A I met him when I went
up to the corner. 2

Q When? A Right at that time, a few moments after.

>
Q Which corner? A 37th Street and Eleventh Avenue.



Q Well, you had been at 37th Street, hﬂiﬁ’tﬁf[lff
- A Yes. ' ‘
Q And you said you came down; where had ymbmﬁ

the first place? A I came from 36th Street, towtrll‘fﬁjfﬁ

Street. I only came as far as 37th Street. &
Q You had come fram 36th Street up towards 37th?

A I was travelling north.
Q And they came out of this house in the ﬁt‘&;‘ bf“€a§:

street? A Ves. N

Q And you were within a few feet of them? A Yes.

Q And vou saw them? .A Yes.

Q Both of them? A Yes., |

Q Did they have any property with them? A No.

Q Any trousers or vests or anything? A No.

Q Did you hear any noise about‘that‘time? A Y¥o. .

Q No yelling or anything?} A ﬁo. |

€ YNothing at 211? A Nothing at all.

Q Did you see a woman just about that time come out?

A About 15 minutes afterwards I did.

0 And Afficer Wanamaker was on the corner of 3?th‘
Street and Fleventh Avenue when you got there? A Well, a foy
minutes after I got there he came along.

0, Where did he come from? A He came from towards 38th

Street.



0. Is he in the same precihet with you? A
Q Your post is not the as his, is M? 1
the same, parallel. | '
el Q Your post is up to 38th Street too, is it? lf ,;
Q Did you a moment ago say your pc;st only rmm
Street? A I ééme'as far as 37th Street. |
Q Your post goes as far as 37th?  A Yes.
Q Now, does your pbst go as fgr aquaﬁh?:.lx ii; trﬁﬁfﬁ

32nd to 37th.

0 Does Officer Wanamaker's go down as far as 37th?

A Yes. His went from 37th to 42nd.
. Q Did you speak to these two men? A No.

Q Do you know either of them? A Yes, I knew 'hldh'
before that. A

Q Where did you know him from? A Fromﬁafound'fhn$'
neighborhood.’ I used to see him around there every day or
every night. 7

0 You have seen him around there every day.and bvery
night? A Yes, for a good while.

Q@ You were standing with Officer Wan@maker when a woman
approached? A Yes.

Q Did yvou know her? A I did not know her, no.

Q By the way, when these men came out of the house, had

you already passed the doorway and turned around to look at
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' them? A I turned around and looked at them. HA'
as 37th Street, half the block, and T turned uﬂiﬁﬁ‘ '

at them. I wondered what they were doing there. e

P
€

Walsh did not live there.

Q You had‘pussed the house? A“Yes.

Q And you turned arouﬁd to look wherpvtheyin?¢ §§fs :
A Yes. . ‘

Q Howudid yvou know they were,coming out of tﬁ‘fo?
A I saw them‘coming out of there as I‘uﬁs pasaing-'

Q Where did they go? A They went down past 36th Street.

Q Did they separate? A No, they wuro'tqt!thgr¢
Q Now, yvou were standing at'37£h»étrcit'éornifhiﬁiﬁgl
woman came up? A Yes, about fifteen minutes éffer.
Q Was she drunk or soger? A She appear§¢ to be sober.
Q Did her clothing appear fo be diaarrahged,br her hair
disarranged? A No; not that I noticed.
Q@ Did vou know the woman? A No.
Q Have jou gver seen her in the neighborhood at all?
A No.
Q Have you endeavored to get her here for this trial?

I did not want her, no.

>

Q You made no effort, did you? A No.

Q Now, you went back with this woman to the barber shop?

T~

A ves.
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And went in the front doar? A Went in mm&
Q Didn't you go in the front door? A No. :
Q Didntt you l-go in the barber shop? A No, 1 m
the hall dcore. | ‘
Q And was the hall door open? A Yes. |
Q And the door open leading into the tptrtnqﬁf il?fé
back? A Yes. No,vthe door was shut; the door liiiiﬁg”i :
the apartment was shut. " :
Q Did you see where the key was? A ﬁo; L
Q Did you see the key at all? A I did not see the hhu;aniEl

no.

Q Where was the defendant, or the compltinaut;?ihﬁi%iéﬁ &
got there? A He was in bed. A

Q VWhat did he say? A He told me that two men aalaultod 
him and robbed him.

Q Where was the woman at this time? A She was in the
room at the time. ©She was sitting in a chair.

0 Didn:t the woman say at that time ==

(Question-;ithdrawn) |

Q Did you find any property in the hallway? A I did.

Q Where? A Right back of the door ieading to the
street, I found a vest and pants and umbrella.

Q@ Did you search this woman? A No.

0 You did not search her? A No.
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talking, to see what the trouble was, and to see what Kelly

gher standing on the uptown corner for close on to 15 minutes

Q@ And you allowed her to.g; awvay? A I ullc!ji her to
g0 away. s

Q She went to the station house with you, didn*t ﬁﬁl’ ‘
A Yes. : i

Q Now, when you got into the street, you arrqlttd'ﬁ%;?lj"fl ;%

didn't you? A Vhen I got there? A |

Q@ You arrested RKelly about.an hour afterwards? A Iilréu
rested Kelly, and Walsh, both about an hour afterwards.

Q Were they together? A They'wefe.together.

Q@ Isn,t it a fact that you}héd Felly arrested, that

Walsh vwent there with a men nemed Gallagher, to whom he was

was being arrested for, or who it was that was being arrested;
didn,t that happen? A No, that did not happen.
Q Weren't you standing on the south side of 37th Street,

talking to Officer Wanamaker, when Walsh and a man named Galla=-

before you arrested velly? A No.

Q (Continuing) Who came along a lone? A No.

0 Did yelly come a long aione? A No, he came aiéng‘éith 15
Walsh; came up Eleventh Avenue from 36th Street.

Q Where did you come from, the time you came out of the
apartment of this man Foster, until the time you arroated thov

defendants? A I stayed right on the corner.

w
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‘that Walsh did not came over and ask what the trouble was, and 4

S R g
a5 TV ¥

Q The whole time? A The whole time.

) Wnen did Off icer Vanamaker appear for the th‘l‘l tM ¥

A About two or three minutes after I getting that. _ (
Q Then you were talking with Officer Whnnllkof 5Utdr§“ffw

the arrest? A Yes.
- Q For about fifteen minutes? A Fofiabout-;n hbﬁraiv ﬁnK

, € Do you know whether or not there wero»a ny portﬁhﬁ :
standing on the uptown side of the street taiking? ,A. Not at

that time.

Q At any time before youarrested Walsh or xelly?
A I did not see any before I arrested them.

Q Did the two of you arrest these men? A Yes.

Q  Both of you? A Yes.

Q@ And you insist that Kelly was not arrested alone, and

that then you arreéted Walsh? A I arrested both of them.
BY THE COURT:

Q At the same time? A Yes, sir.
BY MR. COHEN:

Q Was the woman there? 'A Yesg she was there, She
salid "Them are the two men",

Q She said that Walsh wes the man, did she? A She said
the two of them,

Q And shevaaid the two of them were the men that did it
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were the right men.

when she was in the station house? A She 'Uil f 

Q Do you know what it is to be under uwéﬁé"i*fff”“””
Q Would it surprise you to know that the cdip&i fi?f
testified that the woman said that Walsh is not thl lil v
had nothing to do with 1t? A I didn't httr tnytﬂlv it&
Q But yvou testify that vou did.hear her tuy ﬁhﬁt.lh?j ?‘
the man? A I testify that she sa id 'You have the right‘anaw': »»
Q What is her address? A I donst know. |

‘Where does she live? A I don't know.

Q
Q VWhere does she work? A I donit know.
Q

Didn:t you think she was an important witness?

A Tn which direction?

Q Didnrt sh e séy in the station houée that Ihlﬁh had
nothing to do with it? A I did not hear her.

Q@ Will you swear she did not? A No.

Q Now, you remember when vou were in the Police Court?
AT do.,

0 Do vou remember after the examination, that you had a.
conversation with the complaining witness Foster? A Well, 1
m;y have had a conversation with him. “

Q Didn't you tell him that he ought to have been certain
as to his identification of Welsh? A I don't reuember saying

that to him.



Q@ You think you might have said 1%? e

possibly have said it.

A VWell, Foster told me he had not been in court b-roébg3
that the man mixed him up. o
Q And then vou %old him he ought to haje been pﬁl
Walsh was the man? A I don't remenber éaying that; } S
Q You might have said it? A I don't remcmber..ymit,
Qv Didn't you state to the defendant Whlih that if pﬂjtfi 
you would send him to the electric chair? A I don't rtﬁsﬁhiﬁ5 :r
saying that. | g ,‘
Q What do you mean that you don't remember having aatd”~ 

you would send a man to the electric chair? A Well, ke has

spoken so0 much toc me about the case, Walsh did, at different
times -~

'Q VWell, don't you know whether you said to a man you
would send him to the electric chair? A I'told him if he
committed that crime that warranted it, I would.

Q@ You feel very bitter against this man?
A Not at all.

Q Absolutely no feeling? A No feeling. It is im- -

material to me what becanes of him. I have no interest one
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Court? A Yes.

. produce this knife by you? A I have the’kﬁ&!ﬁ«f

way or the other.
Q@ You did not find any property on ii&iﬁV*fW;f
tified by the complainant, did you? |

A No.

Q Don't'you remember that the f irst

1
dicating).

examination? ‘
A .I produced everything there.
Q At the first examination in the Police CQuri; Qi; you
or hot produce this knife? |

A I had that evidence there, yes.

FEs

0 Did vou show the knife to the Judge on.tho first ex-
amination? A XNo.
Q And on the second one you did? A I did-._He:did

not require it the first time,
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PANIEL SWHITH (alias Frank Kelly), being calle o
duly sworn as a witneas on behalf of tho People, tiii\J‘»
as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINAT1ON BY MR. MC GUIRE:

Q@ What is your right name? A Daniel Smith. :

Q You have also gone under the name of Dlnidlv!ia'hf_ .¢4 i

man? A Never was arrested under that name 1n'nw ltft.

Q@ You have been eonvieted betore’ A Yes nir.~

Q Of burglary? A Yes sir. |

Q@ On two or three occasions?® A Yes sir.

Q And you served timevin the States Prison? A Yes
sir. | o

Q (eontinuing) For these two or three coniietiahi'
here, one, two vears in Sing Sing in 1902, and fvo»yea;s

in Sing Sing in 1888% A Yea.

Q@ And one vear in the Penitentiary in 1896%? A Yes.

Q welly, haw long have you known Walsh here? A 1

made his acquaintance in State's Prison, to start with.
Q@ How long have you known him? A About ten years.
MR, COHEN: I»objgct to this inquiry. ‘Horo is

a man that goes on;fﬂgnstand and states that he met

this man in prison. 1 stated that I did not expeet
to put in any defense, and under those circu-utancol,

1 ask vour Honor to call this a mistrigl. This de~
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fendant eannot have a fair trin m W W
eumstences. 1 do not say it is true or is Iﬁ! W
A man goes on the stand in the face of a iﬁtf  t
from me as attorney for the defendant, that 1 "‘W‘,gygi,ﬁ
not put in any witnesses, on the gtand, that 1 ‘&l -
not expeet to have any defense, and that that was
my present plan, and now here is a m-h that,jocq'
on the stand and savs "1 met this dotend§n$;in¢
State's Prison". |

MR. MC GUIRE: 1t strikes me that ecounsel .':1‘0

not proper in his imputation of unfairness. 1 ﬁut

this man on the stand because I intended to put him
on the stand. |
.MR, COHEN: J do not say it is unfair of
ﬁr. MeGuire. I mean unfair to us, not by Mr. Me-
Quire. .
T\I{E' COURT: Now,. counsel, the answer given by
the witness has no relation at all to your state-
ment that you did not propose to put in a defense,
because that was a temporary frame of mind that
you were in, that you were at liberty to change
at any time. The question is merely whqiher, anfire-
1y aside from that statement of yours, tﬁe answgr‘

of thie witness, uncalled for by the question, is of



discretion in this matter, where we hava that ri‘ht

a eharaeter to so prejudice this dﬂr!illlt Hi;;fff.};

minds of the jury, that in the light of ywur

ment, the defendant cannot huve, at the hiﬂiﬁﬁf“g;L“
this Jjury, a fair trial. 4 ,
MR. COHEN: Well, that states the propootttﬁi?;;;
more sueeinetly and preeisely than 1 eould. !&i"
only point is, your Honor will recognize, th&&ﬂwo
alwavs have the right of not putting:in a defense.

Now, we appeal to your Honor'a43al¢-.ﬁtfunl

and we are not ealled upon to oxeroino it untiz thﬂ
prosecution has entirely proven its case tnd fbltela
I cannot now, in fairness to my eiiont, try my duéc
as 1 please, and your Honor must see the pogition 1
am in. ‘ |
THE COURT: COunsei, the fact that you do not
propose to put in a defense, if thaf'be a fact,
has no bearing at all upon the question. The only
question is whether the answer or atatghgnt, if you
please, made by the witness, intended to‘be in re-
sponse to a question put by the Distriet Attormey,
;hich question was not so formed or framed as to
Qlicit necessarily the stetement of the witness,

is of .such a eharacter as to neeessarily, or prob-




ably prejudieo this jury so ageinst your dli!ﬂt{i%i'ﬁ i
elient, the defendant, that ho eannot hﬂ!& t# iﬁi
hands of this jury a fair trial.

WR. COHEN: 1 submit that it is Jjust that uw
acter of queation. I cannot 1magine anything tﬁit

might be more prejudieial to the defendant en a f”“”;* ‘

for a crime of this kind than the stateunnt ih‘& h.

met the defendant in State's Prison.

THE COURT: Now, let me make a qu‘gg»oat'aoa ﬁa‘ﬁt,.
counsel: You can either objeet or not, ai‘jbu itﬂ_
fit. Without prejudiee to your rights to make an

aprlication at the cloae of the People'l case ﬁhut

this shall he considered a mistrial, without pru-_
judice, let the evidence of this witness be tukea»'
and vou enter upon youf cross examination. 1t may
then be that despite thg introduetion of this evi-
dence, you may still feel disposed to make your ap-
plieation to the Court as a matter of iaw and that
the Court can pass upon your appliecation, in whieh
event yoﬁr time will be saved and the time of the
Court.

MR. COHFN: I will adopt your Honor's sugges-
tion.

THE COURT: If I cannot dispose of your'uppli—



eation then, as a matter of law, or the m
in my view, to go to the jury, thc‘n mm%
in position to make your qpplioﬁtidn to with

statement made by the witness has prejudieed
sarily the defendant.
MR, COHRN: Yes, your Homor, 1 will tm :
ecourse. i e o
BY MR, MC GUIRE:
Q On this nighf of the 9th of January, lﬁﬁﬂ,-ih!l7
and where did you first see Walsh, thé defendant here?

- A metween 35th and 36th Street, on Eleventh Avenue.

Q Tell your story from then. Who, if anybody, Qll
with Walsh when you met nim; what you and Walsh did wp fo |
“the time of your arrest by officerHale? A There was ;_
girl with him. -

Q@ Talk louder? A There was a lady with him, and 1
was walking down towards 34th Street, where 1 was told 1
would find him, and hefore 1 got that distance,‘beférb‘li
got off Eleventh Avenue, I met him and this girl, and we
went in a saloon and»we had a eouple of drinks. We all
drank whiskey, and we come out of there and we went in the
saloon across the street and we had several drinks there.

He had no monev and 1 gave him two dollars. 1 treated
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first; the complainant treated seecond, and he tre
the bartender treated, and there was ufmu‘t six ,‘  _ pe
ed. In the meantime, he was tlltina::thiu girl tn*ﬁnnﬂ
box at the end of the bhar, and me and this Oonalclahﬁii
standing at the bar. Then the complainant goes out w&i&,
this girl, and him and 1 stayed in for a half an hwnri*!;
should judge. Then he says to me: "Come on out®, indatf'”
went out with him, and wé stood on the ecorner, and he
says "Come on over here until I get that hnssy‘. u.Qatn¢'
this girl. 1 says "Where is she"? He says "She 13:1n. |
here with this barher". So we went in the hall, and he
savs "You knock at the door and ask him to come out;'wfl‘f;”ﬁ
knocked at the d oor, and she says "Who is there?" and i

hesitated, and he savs "Tell the barber it is you’, 80 1

says "It is me, open the door", and when the barber ecome
out, he was in his underwear, and ‘he hit him, and 1 fell
with my arm around the barber.

Q Who hit whom? A Valsh hit the barber, and when
the barber fell on the floor, I held him there, and he went
i n and took his vest and his wateh and his money, and
dropped the e¢lothes in the end of the hall, and we went
out, and the policeman seen us eoming out of the door, and
paid no attention., We stood on_the-oornor, and we stood

there talking, out side the door. Then we walked down to
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the saloon on Eleventh Avenue and ssth‘stratt, and we
stood there, I guess, pretty near an héur; ll’“"ll:ﬂ'ﬂk w 
and ten minutes, and he paid the man a doliur t!af he o
owed him, and we had several drinks.

Q Who, Walsh paid the man a dollar? A Ypa; and ﬁi";
come out of there and we passed this officer and unoti@r"ﬂ
officer and this woman; and we stood on the corner. .
We stood on the corner, the saloon where we first clnp"
out of, for 15 minutes,.and the offieer ecome over andsays
"Come here, I want you", and he tbok me over and 1 said
"Why?" And he says %o this woman, ';s that the rnliow?';

And she says "Yes". He savs "Go and get the barbdr.“'vfhcf.

barber ecome out. "+s8 that the fellow?" And the bdrbcr
says "Yes, all I want is my wateh". This fellow come over
then and he séys "What have vou got him for; he didn't do
nothing", and got around me. '
BY THRE COURT:

Q When vou say "this fellow", whom do ybﬁ.mean?
A I mean Walsh, and he come there and went between me and
the officer and he says "He didn't do nothing;‘what's this
for, for being drunk? He's 2ll right". We were taken to
the station house and this woman said that he had nothing
to do with it. So, all I know =--

BY MR, MC GU1RW:
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A Never spoke for me, no.

80 all I know, I am taken into the W

lot of drink in, and 1 am assaulted, "i,«:ﬁ
nothing ahout this fellow.k When 1'§ps tuhwgﬁﬁﬁ
room 1 didn't know I was there, because I htiﬁﬁ
plate in the back of my head, where I was hurte

v

the next morning we were taken to Poliece 30&‘{;
CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, COHEN:

Q@ Now, in the Poliece Court, you both had tﬁp cqﬂbr
yer, didn't you? A He had the lawyer, yes. The lawyer
didn't defend me. | .

Q He defended both of you in the ?olice_eourta

@ Did not Col. (Townsend app;;f for both‘defendlgﬁ.?
A 1 don't know anything about it. Ho spoke for'thia man.
He had an examination, but I didn't. I never naid‘unﬁhthg.

Q Vas it a separate examination? A Well, 1 didn't
say anything. 1 couldn't say that. I aaked eounsel --

Q@ Yow, when you were brought down io tho'anbj, there
was a firm of lawyvers appﬁared forhoth.of you? A No ;
lawyer came near me., ‘

Q Didn't.you have a lawyer named Campbell? A GI; "

here, ves.
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walsh, didn't he? A VWalsh was asked whn»ﬁi,

he says Campbell.

you? A He told me it himself. .
Q Ahd you also heard they had retunﬁ- my ﬂ.
A Cohen Brothers, ves. ' ' »
Q@ You heard that they had us as lawyor!?  A riﬁ%.
Q@ And then you made up your mind -- your triaa‘i*"f\
not able to raise money to pay your }anyer? A VYNo. .

Q@ You have noi paid vour luiyer.a'oont? A !%!@W

Ll
eent.,
Q And Walshes friende were not paying any gtttﬁtina‘
to you, were they? A No.
Q@ Did not come to see yoﬁ? A No. .
Q Gave you nothing, no money or anythingf A Aﬁb;
Q Did not employ a lawver for you? A No.
@ And in the meantime, your relations with ﬁhllh h;‘
become wvery strained here in.the Tombs? A Yes.
<

Q@ It got so you did not speak to each otherf A Oh
yes, we spoke every dqy.

Q You were threatening to kill eaeh other every
day? A Ko, 1 never threatened to kill that man.

Q Well, your relations had hecome very much struiaqd?



A In ihat respect?

Q@ 1 mean, you were not as friendly as you

A 1 was always friendly with him, Sut’hb would
- » to me much.‘ 1 would'ask him a question ;nt.hﬂ"
answer.

Q@ He would not talk to you at 311’ A No.

@ But when you heard he had alployed a anyi?;w}

going to have a separate trial, was that~th6'£1ib!:i

up your mind to plead guilty? A The time 1 made ==

Q (interrupting) yes or no? A Well,»you'will‘ii&h;r

t o go over thgt again. .

- | Q Did you make up your mind to plead guilf; nf< '

erime of robhery when you learned for the first time that

Walsh was determined to have a separate trial? A 1 had
my mind made up as soon as I had my senses; befofq 1 got
1n'the'Tombs, I had ny mind made up to plead guilty.

Q And notwithstanding the faet that the minute yn& élt
to the Tombs vou made up yourmind to plaid guilfy, you;lllh
to this bar and pleaded not'gnilty? A 1 did not intend to
do it on the start., I expectéd to get i iightar pl‘u.

Q You made up your mind that you were goiﬁg to make
what may be termed the best deal you eould? A Exaetly.

Q And you made up yourmind, if you could save your=

gelf from going to prison, or get yourself as light.l sen-
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tenee as possible, you were going to do it? A

Fj7’~ &4 Q@ If necessary, to tell everything thtt’l!!’liﬁi;;iij

a little more, too? A No, only the truth.

Q Only the truth? A That's all.

o~
*

Q@ And by telling the truth, you mean to say that
was also connected with 1it? A He ecertainly vii@

Q Aﬁd to whom did you eonvev the 1ntorn§tion ﬁhﬂt'yiiVE'ﬁ'
desired to plead guilty? A To nobody at all, only rinht] ‘w
here at this bar. | | i

Q When ? A The other day; yesterday. '
Q Did your lawyer go to see you? A He came dc'n'anllﬂ
s spoke to me and he asked me what I intended to do,vsﬁdvt
told him I was in a ponderment. 1 didn't.know what to do.

Q Ina what? A Ponderment. 1 didn't have a ehanee

for a trial. I had no means, and 1 says "I will take a
plea if I can get it to assault in the second degree".

Q@ And you have pleaded guilty to what? A Assault in
the second degree. |

Q@ And you know what you were indieted for,»rcbbery'
in the first degree? A Yes. o

Q Have vou got-what is known as short time to do in
State's mrison? A No sir. I left the State's Prison‘in
Oetober, 1904, | :

Q@ How many vears of your life have you spent in
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State's Prison? A Well, two years and nine months; one

year; four years and a half, and two years. ;

Q And in order to save vourself as muah ’un&ﬂhluli tl
possible, you have made up your mind to aouist the Bll-
triet Attorney if you eould? A I throw myself on the
merey of the Court by telling the truth. .

Q 'hat d1d the Distriet Attorney tell you he would ii"
for you? A He simply says he would try and get me that;‘
plea of assault in the seeond. ;

Q Did he ﬁell vou he would try and get you a light
sentence? A No sir, ie,did not. 1 was satisfied with
fhe plea of assault in the second. :

Q Your plea then, was to some extent based ﬁpon'tho

fact that vou were afraid if you did not take the plea

vou would probably get the 1imit? A No sir, 1 simply did

not want to stand trial, and I know 1 had no c¢hance, and

if I ecould get off with a plea in the seeond, 1 would take
it.

Q. I mean, was it not induced to some extent by fear
of the sentence vou could get if you did stand trial?
A cCertainly, 1 eould not stand trial.

Q@ And you were afrald to stand trial? A OFf courlorl

was.

Q mecause vou had no lawver? A Not that alone. 1




you? A Yes.

Q@ And I suppose Walsh gave you that? A He slipr

in my pocket when he came over‘therc.v
Q He slipped it in your poecket? A He -crtainiyrlﬂi
Q Well, now you say that your é;ea of‘gllliy an £h£jigf}‘
confession that you elaim to be making now,}1. nat.1niﬁi§‘,i”J»:
in any way by fear, is it, fear of the result”if youdb-_i i
not? A Yes. . ‘ |

Q@ And have you also made some bargain with anynnlnagz,; 

to what, if possible, your sentence would bhe if you t'l‘;

what you might possibly receive as punishment? A I don't
know until I get it. , o 5

Q We%f?ﬁghen you offered to plead gullty to assault
in the secénd degfee, what was said to yéu? A The Dis-

triet Attorney there says he would try and get it for

me.
Q What else was said? A That's all.
@ Nothing else? A Then 1 was sworn and pleaded

guilty.
Q Did they say anyvthing to you about if you did plead

guilty and vou were eonvieted, you might get twenty years?
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A Yo sir,
&

Q@ WNothing like that? A No.

Q@ Do you know what the sentence is for r.h%i!r*?lf
first degree? A Fifteen years.

Q You know that? A Yes. |

Q And you know what the sentence, the 1init‘§f.t‘6;g}
sentence is for assault in the seeond dagroc? A i‘bl;
lieve it is five years. |

Q And that was the reason that you plcadnﬁlguiihy to

{4

assault in the second degree, beecause you saved your=
solf a possible 15 vears sentence? A That's one rc;lnn;

Q@ What are the others? A The other is becans;v!.mti”ﬂﬁ
not guilty of taking this wateh.

Q@ What are the others?A A That's all.

Q@ Those are the only feasons? A Yes.

Q@ And then, the other reason is that you were a little
sore on Walsh hecause he forsook you and employed his own
lawyer, and his friends stueck to him and not to you?

A No.

@ Now, you did not kndw Valsh until you met him that
night, did you? A 1 had ﬁet him a day or two previous to
that.

Q@ Cut out the State's Prison business, now? A I

ain't going to speak about that; that is an error on my



part. I didn't mean to say that before. ﬂhﬁi*

my idea and reason was that --

it.

Q I ask you now, getting right down to Jtnm;ny,'"'“
A Well, 1 met him the day previous to thii.
. appointment to meet me for some reason or othur, I d‘ﬁ@t
know, but he said he wanted to see me, and thlt'. hnt’in'ﬂii.
that night.

Q Well, the night before, when he made thﬁj appoint-
ment with you? A Well, that is the prison £n1n¢ again,
if I speak ahout that. : .

®

Q How many vears ago was that? A 'ell, 1 ain't sure

what year it was. It is quite a few back that 1 met ‘h&#h
Q How many, do you think? A I ain't got no 1dou.
Q@ Would you say it is ten years? A Well, it might
be ten, might be eight. *
‘Q 8o that, the fact is you think you met him eight or
ten vears previous in State's Prison? A 1 dqn't think
it. I know it. o
Q When you met him the night before this robbery, you
knew him? A He recognized me first.
d Q What did he say to you? A He apbko about it first.

o

Q Well then he made an appointment with you for the
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next night? A The acquaintance was renewed. This girl
was in the house where 1 was, sh§ was to be axuttao-n'ta
the case, and he thought that 1 was somebody thntvill keep~ ,7 
- ing her from heing a witness. » | e
Q wow, isn't that the way he c;m§ to know you?
A That's the way he ecame to'place me this time. _!Qin”wé'
nide an appointment, and we went out and drank t‘élthif and
we renewed the acquaintance. ‘ -
Q@ Wasn't this appointment in connectibn with the case
of a man named Gallagher, who was to be tried about ﬁhuf
time in the Court of General Sessions? A 1t wes oonhect-
ed with some man, but who the name was I don't know.
Q@ And he thoughﬁ you were in some way tryihg to in-

duce some woman not to testify? A He thought this woman

that was in this room, where she had a furnished room,
where I was, that 1 was the one that held her there.

Q And that is why he spoke to you? A 'Yes, he come
in, to see who that party was.

Q And is not that the first time he spoke to you this
year? A Yes, and a good many more years.

Q@ And he made an appointment with you for the next
night? A Yes.

Q And the following day the appointment he made with

you, he was there with the woman who was to be a witness




next day in some case? A That was the time I met him om
FEleventh Avenue; he was eoming down to meet angﬁihl{

Q And later on, this barber went of f with this w

-y

A Yes.

Q@ And went into his room with her? A 1 ﬂilp't kﬁm&

where he went wuntil Walsh showed me. | .

Q Well, he went away with her? A Yes. T st

Q Was the barber drunk? A Well, he had as mueh u‘x )

did. : : o |

Q How many did you have? A VWell, 1 started oa‘iﬁinity’

-with Walsh and I and this girl, we had two of tho a pitc.»

& ; Then we eome over in this other saloon, and met the b.?bOr

there, and I drank lagar and hass' ule, or something like

that, and we had about six drinks apiece.

Q@ And the barber the same? A Wen, 1 don't know how
many he had before that, but he had as many as 1 did in
there. .

Q@ Now, you know that this cecase in which this woman
was a witpness was eonming on the next day? A 1 didn't
know anything about it until sghe told me. ’

Q Th;t trial was on that day? A 1 don't know when the
triai was .

Q So that later, when this barber went off with the

woman, and you and Walsh were left alone, Walsh said he



" wanted to get hold of that woman, did h.? A !i li‘l*! l&#

"woman®., He didn't say nothing ahout it, uatil 'i'qﬁl #h,

the street, then he says "Come on until 1 find tltt |

That's the way; woman was not mentioned.

Q He wanted to get hold of that woman? A.-It app:
that way to me. e

| Q@ He did not say he wanted td go and rdf this ﬁlnf.'lzf

A No; '

Q@ There was no talk about robbery? A No.

Q You and he did not arrange‘to'go and rob that man?

A No,

Q@ Nothing of that kind? A No.

Q@ Do you know where this woman is? A 1 do not.

Q@ Do you know her at all? A <I'know her by seeing her :
that day.
BY THE COURT:

Q@ What is her name? A Vell, as far as 1 understand
from Walsh, he elaims her name is Mamie Herrman.

Q@ Then you say that vou and he could not‘make up your
minds as to whieh wﬁs to knoek at the door, eould you?
A .Yes; certainly.

Q Bven at that time, had the idea suggostod itself
to him so that he confided it to you, ahout robbing this

man? A No.



Q And the first time there was any nmn m‘
and robhery, was that when the door was uptntl5' ;c
body struck this man? A When the barber and ! iﬁtﬁ ﬁﬁ:
the hall, and 1 held the burber; then the robbori-iuﬁﬁ. ;
off. | "
@ That is, after the assault? A Right:thir@ ‘a.::.
spot, when 1 fell with the barber, Walsh and tuckkth§ o
barber's vest and pantg. | | ‘
Q Dia &ou grab the barber byvthe'thrott? A1l ‘1ic f‘
Q@ Now, would it surprise you to know thut the harbor |
said that was all that happened somebody mbbol h:lu by
the throat? A It would not surprise me what he says. .

Q Was it dark then? A Yes.

Q@ How do you know what Walsh did to the man? A Be-
cause I am looking at him eoming out with the fost ahd
pants.

Q@ He came out? A Yes.

Q@ You did not? A I ecertainly did go right out after
him.

0 He took the wateh and ehain from the vest and gave
it to you? A He didn't give it to me. He slipped it |
in my pockets after, a considerable time after.

Q When did you know it was in your pocket? A When

the officer searched me.



Q Which pocket was it put into? A 1 don't  f*.”'4
ean leave that to the officer. I think it was ta 5%5°‘ »
pocket (indicating), and in this pocket (1nd1¢qtiﬁ¢),A!fﬁ
had a small peﬁ knife about that long (1naio;t1n¢§. |
Q@ And this man, without your knofledgc, put thil i
watch and chain into-yogr pocket? A Anybody ooﬁlﬂ,do'ti;f~:H
I suppose, under the circumntancée. ¥ -

@ I did not ask you that. Who did it? A He diad,

ves. 1 had that mueh drink in he could have took my eoat

off, almost.

@ Did you have somu&E drink that you did not know what

happened? A 1 know all that happened. But that wafch
was done so neat I did not lindw Shet.

@ Did vou see any money taken? A Yes sir.

@ Who took the monev? A Walsh. |

@ You did not do a thing? A 1 held the barber.

Q Vell, wvhy, if you and Walsh had not made up yoﬁr
minde to rob this man -~ A (Taterrupting) Had not made up

our minds? No, certainly. :

@ Now, I say that, notwithstanding the faet that you
and Walsh had not made up your minds to rob him, why did

you assault the man when he opened the door? A When 1

fell with the bharher?
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‘ Q Well, how aid you eome to fall? a-'!uww ”
gave him knocked himdown along with mn.r ?hcf *”
barber coming to my bhody, 1 fell against the ;tliziiiii
that (indicating) and slipped, and 1 held the urinr
until he came out.

Q@ You say this man struck him first? A,Yci,‘tl”i
as the door was opened. . - | ' k

Q@ Vhere was the woman at the time? A  8he wi; in”fﬁﬁ.a
room. I could not see her, but I heard her hblleringQ

Q Then, the two of you went out, and after =- A !iu,f
we went out in the street.

€@ What became of the barber? A 1 don't knui.'

Q@ Vho went out first? A Both of us came out togéthor;
and the officer that got us arreatéd, seen us eoming out
of the door.

Q@ Who left the room of the barber first? A 1 never
was in the room. I was in the hall. 1 never erossed the
door. 1 was in the hall with the‘barber all the timo.

@ Which officer éaw vou come out of the doorway?

A This officer here (Mr. Hale).

Q 1s that the one (indicating)? A Yes.

Q@ He saw vou coming out? A Yes, hecause he was the
o nly one that passed. .

0 How far away from you was he? A wrom the curbstone




tii‘i

- was taken in the back room, and lieked, because 1 would

to the hall door; that is, I guess about 14 feet at the

most; the width of the sidewalk.

Q@ You say when you were searched you had a Eﬂtft'iﬁ.‘ ‘
you? A 1 had a smell pocket knife, et the very biggest,
opened and all, it would not cover five inches. :

Q@ Did you see Walsh when he was searched? A Ib; 1 ;*

not tell who was with me.
Q Vell, Walsh was there at the time? A At whpt time?
@ In the station house? A 1 can't remember whether

he was or not. He was there when 1 was in the station

house, but where he was when I ﬁas in the back foomfl,dnﬁ?f
know,

@ And you know you and Walsh were arrested togethér?
A Yes, we walked to the station house togethér, .

Q@ And when 1 say together, 1 want to ask you if you
were or not arrested separately, aﬁd then Walsh came over
and wanted to know what the trouble was? A The policeman
took me and came over to this woman, endsays "Is that the
fellow?" And Valsh walked over there ﬁhen.

Q Where was Walsh before that time? A Right with
me, standing, and another young fellow.

Q And vet he took vou alone? A He took me, and did

not bother him at all, and wslked over to this woman and



and she save "Yes".

Q@ About you? A About me.

Q@ And where was Walsh at the time? A He tdmncvtﬁ” "
there then. ‘ ‘

@ Where had he been, to come over from? A From m .'
I was left, where we were all standing togothor on'th§ 09?  
posite”cOrner. . ; |

@ On the uptown eorner? A On the northeast ﬁérnifo

Q And at that time, the officer was on the downtown
corner? A He was on the southeast ecorner.

@ And you énd Walsh and Gallagher and'aomobogy-olnot“
A No Gallagher. |

Q@ Well, you and Walsh and some other man? A Another
man.

@ Who? A 1 don't know. He known.

Q@ Do you know‘Gallagher? A I know him from seeing
him come in to see this fellow in 54th Street, that's

all.

e

v

Well, you say Gallagher was not standing there;
you don't remember? A Gallagher was not there; no. There
was only three of us.

Q@ Vho was the third man? A Some other young fel-

low. That's all I know. He was to go to eourt the follow=

the other officer and he says to her "ys thnt\tht~ft&13'9”f i
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» ing morning.

Q@ You are pomsitive it was not Gallagher? I,xllghf.‘ » 
positive. sl

”fﬁ" Q@ How long were you standing there? A 1 guess . rom

ten to fifteen minutes.
: Q@ And after the offieer was on the other side of ; eif;
- the street? A Two offieers'and this woman. o
Q ?hat was how long after you gnd VWalsh had ;gﬁgﬁigp
ed this man? A I judge over an hour.

0 And the woman standing there? A 1 didn't say she

was standing there; when we came bhack, after thie depreda-

® tion had heen cormitted, from the saloon where we spent
partvof our time, when we came back in that diroetioh,
and stood on the opposite corner, we sew this woman with.
those policemen talking there, and we stood there looking’
at them, and looking at this woman. Then the officer comes
over and he takes me, and Walsh comes over and ﬁants to
know what 1.am arrested for. »

Q Walsh came over? A Yes, he came over and asked
what I was arrested for. He didn't know himself. He was
80 drunk, 1 guess .

Q@ What did ther say? A They didn't say nothing, and
the barher come out and says I was the man, and they tbok

the two of us to the station house.
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Q@ Why was Walsh arrested at that time, if the woman

said you were the man? A 1 don't know.

Q Did anyhody say anvthing at that time that impli~
cated Walsh? A Not to my knowledge.
Q@ You were standing there? A Yes. e

Q And although the woman said Mr. Walsh did nothing

g
and although the barber said you were the man that ...g,;g,Vi
ed him, Mr. Walsh was also taken? A He didn‘t“c;y I ‘-if-
the one that assaulted him at the time. ﬁe says 1 was |
the one, but what he meant by it 1 don't know atvtko tius;
but he said I was the one, -

'@ Was Walsh arrested because he was drunk? A ¥o,
he waé arrestedAhecanseﬁhe was drunk and he was»arr&itcl

for being with nme.

€@ Just hecause he was with you? A ,ecause he was
in the vhole thing with me, 1 should judge.

Q@ At that time nobody had said anything ageinst
Walsh, had there? A 1 don't know.

@ Did the officer say he had seen you both come out?
A He certainly did. A

Q@ At that time? A I don't know whether he did that
t ime or not. He did after.

Q@ Did he ask yvou whether you had the man's wateh?

A YNo.
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Q@ He did not say a word to you at all? ‘“iﬂ* "fi”‘

got in the sﬁation house, all I remember the o
that 1 have got the wateh, and he wﬁa uekaq'F‘hitﬁ tﬁ
goet it" "1 got it on tis feilow here", mcuﬂna -o."
Q@ Did vou have any money? A 1I muy.have hﬁl d'”
in ailier, They gave it to me the next morning.
Q@ Didn't you hear the woman 1nsiet that 'ii!h7hi(
nothing to do with it? A 8She done that on the utfectc
Q Right there where you were arrested? A !Qa.,
Q And when she got to the station house didn't lha,lq& T
Walsh had nothing to do with it? A 1 believe she did.

Q And weren't you also preaent‘whon the~ooﬁplginih¢

witness said he was not sure he was the man? A Where
was this? \

Q At any time? A YNo. When the barber had his say,
I eouldn't hear him. FHKe spoke very loy.

Q Did you hear him say =-- A (interrupting) The
only thing I did hear him say is, if 1 remember rigﬁt,
was in 54th Street, he sald Walsh was not the man.

Q@ That Walsh was or was not? A He said Walsh was
not the man at his examination.

MR, MC GUIRE: That is all. The'Peoﬁle rest.
MR, COHEN: 1 ask rour Honor io strike out the

testimony of this last witness, on the ground that



it is a confession that has been ut,—iﬁgjiffiqgwgf
fear. "r'; e

THE COURT: That rule, counsel, ﬁi}f{ } '”-
where a confession is being used against the man whi
made it. In other words, if a man makes & ‘
and that confesaion is produced by fear, 1tﬁ“‘i‘§? 
be used against hiﬁ. '

MR. COHEN: Exeeption.

THE COURT: That is my impression of it. If

vou can shbw me any authority tq control, 1 would
like to have it. |

MR. COHEN: I think I éun,‘yoﬁr Honor.

THE COURT: I will look at your authorities.

MR. COHEN: I take an exeeption. Now, 1 ask
your Honor to strike out the testimony 6! the accom- e
plice, on the ground that there is not that cofrobora- i
tion of his testimony which the law roqnireﬁ before |
the testimony of an aecomplice can be used in evi-
dence. |

THE COURT: That is not ground for striking
out the testimony. It may be a ground for moving to
dismiss, on the ground that he has not been suffi-

ciently corrobhorated.

MR, COHEN: 1 know, but 1 want to get my reeord
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clear, to get a ruling, so that I ean ilﬂi !hi

THE COURT: Motion deni&i.  #?

straight. That is donied?

MR, COHEN: Exception. 1 ask your H!!lr tt
take from the Jurv the count of robbery in tle !&}?
degree. Robbery in the firat degree lnat bm ﬂhﬂ?ﬁ :
the robhery is a result of a euaspirncy, ;n# there
is no sueh proof here; |

MR, MC GUIRK: Aeting in obncortf |

MR. COHEN: Yes, acting in eoncert; the i&iansai

for the People goes on the stand, and wh-tiﬁir t‘t- :

sibility there may have been of there huvf.ni M u
eonspiracy, that entire presumption is destroyed
by the testimony of the People's witnesaat,ﬂi'withant,
who says that at no time was there ever a eonspir-
acy or plan to fob this man; that ie had nothing to
do with the robbery; that he was thrown down by this
man. That cannot be robbhery in the first degree.
This man'e testimony is that he did not know they
were going there to rob this man; that he did not go
there for that purpose. That the defendant 'hlyh
struck the complaining witness, and that the foree
of that blow threw to the ground the witness on the

stand. There cannot be robhery in the first degree

%



on that. He says "1 did not tuhn .uy  ‘ erty
not take any money; this prtptrty ﬂi M &W
pookef' Without econspiraey, there,tn atér,f;ff? b
in the first degree.“

THE COURT: 1t is aeting in concert, ut
spiraey; it is coneerted action. | .

Thé point you are making all tum WW 5
question as to whéther, within the mnaniﬁt-nf't§; 
law, this witness KellyAwas an aooomplipo’ﬁf--hllh<lt’
the time when Walsh took the property, if wQ»'u,u :

sume that he did.take it. In other words, robbery

is the unlawful taking of porﬁonal'proporty5un6t
necessarily from the person, but in the’pfaa?nce of 
another, accomplished not necessarily by_f&rcc or
vtolehce, but it may be fear of cnaﬁry o and where
it is accomplished by fear, or by some one who is l
aided by an accomplice actually present, it eon-
sf;ltutes fohhery in the first degree. }
Therefore, eonfining ourselves simply to the
quéation as to whether the ecount of robbery in the
first degree is made out, it depends uwpon whether
the witness Kelly answers to the statutory defini-

tion of an accomplice of the defendant Walsh. I1f

he does, robbery in the first degree is coneeivably
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made out, assuming that the .‘*"“"%"],;;,'“
MR. COHRN: No, 1 -rupmru‘;ty"f:
your Honor.. . ‘
MR, MC GUIRK: He was simply an uttonﬁﬁg"Al
for the purpose of assault, and he utnaly )ﬂf J
his part in holding the barber.
MR, COHFEN: ©Not for the purpose of r&hhtmr Gl
THE COURT: Counsel, let me mlka a Iﬂlﬁiliiiﬂ{:ﬁ
to you: The first and’fundamentalVprapouition<tbr ‘
you to cénsider is this, whether there is Iu!fl;

cient evidence in this case to warrant 1ta gping tq

the jury on the basis of suffieient cofroborutioh"
of the testimony of this‘vitness Khlly; In othcr.
words , regardiﬁg the counts in the 1ndi¢tn§nt, is
there enough corroborative proof to submit this

case to the jury? HAs this witness yelly been suffi-
ciently corroborated?

MR, COHEN: Yes, your Honmor, but in my ex-
perience, 1 have always made my motions at this
time just this way, making motions to strike out'
testimony and making motions to take away counts‘of
indictments, and then one general motion to dismiss
éntirely what may be left. 1 want to find out what

is going to be left in., Now, if your Honor denies
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«tho motion as to the robbery 1n<§h§ ttgﬁgi;ff.ggm;  _
then 1 will proceed to the nq#t oitat&.' ji“

THE COURT: 1 will reserve decision “

MR. COHEN: wery well. Now, your Honor, th

is no proof as to value in this oangi?.h‘ ih‘,;_‘

méke'out grand larceny in thedfirat.‘g‘r.c..,
MR. MC GUIRR: That is unnecessary f&rVrﬁ$hify;’ :f

MR. COHEN: You are diseussing now ihﬁ‘stﬁiﬁlvw

count , grand larceny in the first degree.

THR COURT: Now, what does the Distriet At-
torney say in regard to that propouttidaQ,

MR, MC GUIRF: Well, that seems to be so.

THE COURT: 1 am disposed to sustain that mo -
tion. 1 will take away the second eount in the in-
dietment. i

MR, COHEN: 1 ask your Honor to take away the
count of assault in the second degree.» Thero is
not‘any proof,outéide of the teitimnny of the aec~-
compliee, uneorroborated, as to who.uss§u1ted, as to
which person assaulted the complainant. He'iayu-he
don't know, and he says distinetly, as I recolleet

the testimony, that the defendant Walsh did not do

,,,,,

it. I ask vour Honor to take away the count of as~-

sault in the second degree, because the complaining
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witness says that Walsh did not ascedlt BN T
more, if it would be ahyihang, it "iitfi;,”;; “3;"
the rohbbery eount. vy
L) THE COURT: I am disposed to grant that b4
Why should I not, Mr. Distriet Attornoj?“ a‘ 2

MR. MC GUIRK: With an necomplicé?. ‘

TI COURT: Yes.

WR. MC GUIRW: Assault in the second degree,
it seems to me --

THE COURT: I will grant that metion.

MR, MC GUIRK: Then I ask that assault in the
third degree be retained in the iﬁdictﬂsnt; ﬁh‘i;« .

the indictment, a lesser degree may be retained, as

the ecount in the second degree embraces the ecount in

the third degree.
THE COURT: nrdinarily, that proposition is

correct, as a matter of law. When a Grand Jury in-
dicts for a crime with varying degrees, the case may
he submitted to the jury on a lesser degree, and the

c ount may bhe retained in the indietment for purposes

of submitting on a lesser degree, butAsdme conqidoratia

tion, the lack of tesﬁimony bearing upon the ouum&q-

" gion of the assault in the higher degres, would like~-

wise hear upon the lesser degree, and therefore take




it out altogether. Th.t motion is granted.

MR. GOHEN: Now, your Honor, ﬁhuf 10.de¢il,?
the last eount of eriminally recoivind Ii&iiagjfpégfngﬁ
perty. i

MR, MC GUIRK: I eonsent to that.

THE COURT: Then that goes out.

MR, COHEN: Now, that leaves but one eount in
the 1ndictmeht,,the charge of robbéry 1ﬁ thé firlt.
degree, and as to ﬁhat » 1 ask your Honor to take |
away from the jury, and direct the jury to,acqpit,
on the ground that the People have failed to nnk' out ‘1l  
a case; on the ground that at this time there is no o
such testimony in the case as would permit a Gourt

to submit it to the jury's econsideration.

THE COURT: Counsellor, there are only two
c¢ircumstances in this case, which would warrant its
being sent to the Jﬁry, 1: they do warrant it -;

1 do not say they do, but thére are just two. One?
is the fact, that this man Walsh was in that room
there late at night. 1 am talking now about the
circumstances, outside of any eonnection with the
testimony of the aecomplice. One is the fact that
he was in that room very late at night, and at or

about the time when the erime was committed. The
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other is, t&t he was seen going out tt‘l&t ‘buildi
at about eleven o'cloek in the em&ﬂ. N“ .
the time when the officers became informed f!iﬁ iﬁﬂ
erime had heen eommitted -- not eleven, 1 thiﬁ"“ms e
o'clock, and then the faet that he vas in m
with relly at the time that the arrest was mule,.aiiqngQ
that some of the stolen property was wupon the pmﬂ |
of Kelly at the time of the making of the arroni._“

Now, the question is, whethér those three eir-
eumstances, in addition to the testimony of the ann
complice, do not make it a sufficient case to go to
the jury.

VR. COHEN: Now, I will tell your Honor why,

taking up the first eount, taking up the point about

the wateh and 'chain_, t.he wateh and ehain are not in
evidence; there is no proof hefore this eourt that
the watch and chain,‘even.a.smming"that tl;e accom=
plice's testimony'was true, was not thé wateh and
chain of this man, which he had a right to dfop into
the pocket of the complainiﬁg witness, or the other
defendant.

THE COTIRT: There is some evidence in this case
tha\t when the complainant Foster returned to voon-

sciousness, he found himself in a room with a woman,



ant in the room.

b

‘.x
-
-

eient, but there
MR. COHEN:

identification.

and that this defendant, that the defendant was abou

ten feet away from him, and that he saw the m

S o
e

Now, I do not say that is s
is some testimony to that effect.
Not unless he is positive of the

He says "I think it is the man."

THE COURT: The question is whether, ﬁuu' i

the other cireuwmstances with the_evidenée of‘ihé»aiﬁ

complice, there‘is enough to go to the jury. |
MR, MC GUIRE: It seems to me clearly enough,

the property was in his trousers or vest when he went

P to hed, and there is the fact that after the assault

occurred the property disappeared. He does not xnaw,
as far as the'complainarm is concerned, how it dis~-
appeared, except thé.t it wms g/one and the wateh was
shown to him by the officer, whieh the officof bears
out.

THE COURT: Now, is there proof that the pro-
perty disappeared after the assault? |

1 am rather inelined to think that the ease
will have to be taken from the jury; that there is
not sufficient proof, outside of the tesfinony of the

accomplice, of the commission of the erime by this

defendant.
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MR, MC GUIRR:

There is the
fendant in the room immediately afte

and leaving the room, and his inc%iﬁt» h

“.g_ ant in the saloon before, and hin-arf!lff”_

L ’ there is ¥Xellv's story; and an aooonﬁl&df

. be corroborated to such an extent thax thﬁ
tion in itself constitutes a cqmplatﬁfngﬁﬁ
that is necehaafy for the eorf&bof&i&pﬁfﬁ!
complice is evidence that a orime’hnivboﬁﬁi
ted, and that is what we have here .laarigfwnt;
solutely, the erime haa boen noamitted‘ ‘

- : ' THE COURT: No, 1 beg your partcn..u
cannot be had upon the teatimony of an s"iﬂp?ifﬁﬁ!
unless he be corroborated by such othar evidl!lo an
tends to connect the defendant with the Cnuminiﬁtu-ﬁi

¢ the crime.

/ | What legal evidence 19 there that the
by the officer was the one taken frun the oanaluﬁam
ant? : S
MR, MC GUIRE: May 1 recall the 6rrtoar updn
that point? '
THE COURT: Yes.

tm af m‘

MR, COHEN: I objeet to the intre

further testimonv on the part of the prt.!ll&w




fair now, nor is it proper or legal, ti,”:f';”“:
farther teatimo;y, after the defenj;nt hli}ibﬂngﬁﬁj
motion to dismiss the indictment and‘takn 1§ d!iyif
from the jury. ' S

THXE COURT: I think I will hgvu to‘itggaiix
objection. If the objection is made, I think 1t is
legal. The reason for my hesitaney is, fh;t thiufv“
witness has been here during the diaonﬁi&on-af tﬁtﬂ
partieular point, and has heard all that diseus-
sion. | -

The stenographer will read the toattnanyfdﬁ”;“’u

that point, |

(The stenographer reads the testimony as fol-

lows:)

"By Mr. MeGuire:

"Q Go on? A E placed them under arrest and

asked them if they had been in 448 Elevanth"Avvnue;
and thev denied it and said they had mot been in
there that night., 1 made a search of them and found
the wateh and ehain on Kelly, which was subsequent- .
ly identified by Mr. roster as his property. § Did
you find anything on Walsh? A Only a knife; I

found a long knife on Walsh." )
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under consideration.

The Court admonished the Jury in
with Sec. 415 of the Code of Criminal Proe
adjourned the further trial of the case until t.

morrow, February 8th, 1907, at 11 o'eloek A. M.
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TRIAL RESUMED,

New York, February 8th, 1907,

MR, COHEN (After arpument): I ask your Hbuﬁrj?fjw
to direct the jury to acquit on the g;round that %ﬁ.
People have failed ®© make out a case; on the grom
that there is no wvidence in the case cthsr than itl

testimony of an accomplice, whose tﬁutimény i:l nbt“.'
corroborated ae required by law, whh:h'cﬁnnectl.thiif
defendant with the crime, and that for that reason
there is no ]brOper proof which would justify your
Fopor in submit ting this case to the hazard of a
,iliryon & count of robbery in the first degree; on
the further ground that am essential elemenf of prow-
ing property in the possession of the complaining
witness at the time 61'- the robbéry as not been showm
on the -ground that the People have failed to make omt
& case against this defendante

THECOURT: I will deny wur motion, Counseiv,
and sive you an exception.

R . COHEN: Well, now I ask your Nofer to strike
out the testimonv of the def endant Kelly, on the ;
ground. that it has not been corroborated as required
by law,

JOURT: I deny your motion, and siwe vou an




exception.. |
M, COHEN: Now, if the Court please, youwr Honor
re served decision on a motion, and ‘that was, t hxve

this case taken away from the jury, on the ground

that the evidence, or a statement made by the witnul e

Kelly would so prejudice the mind of the jury,’by

the statement that he had met this defendant i;l itgt;‘ ;
prison, that this defendant cannot have a fair trial,

I make that motion all the more, if your Honar plelle',
for the reason that as I said during the trial, amd

as I have nor concluded, not »to offer any evidéncc, on

behalf of the defendant, and as your Honor is aware,

the rule requires and the rule is, that nothing éhall
be regarded as against th_is defendént ’by reason of
the fact that he fails to teke the‘ stand in his own
be}nlf.. In view of th;e fact that this statemenlt is
in the record that this man has been in state's prk -
on, that it would seem to require in all fairness

to the defendant that he take the stand eitle r to
admit ar deny it , that we are not p rmitted by reason
of thet ste te ment bheing in’ the record to exercise

the constitut ional right which this man hes of either

taking the stand or not; that the condition of the
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record now is in such shape that he 1.#‘!‘..‘)%“}
that he cannot freely exercise the rightv'»%‘ ﬂﬂd‘h h‘
is entit led, either to take the stand or rtfui&h!,’h
take the stand. For that reason, I ask your Honor |
to remrd this as a mistrial, and remand the dd’ﬂﬂn
ant for further trial. » ‘
THE COURT: I em disposed not to do that, but
merely direct the jury to disregard that ﬁf.utéxuntl
made at that t ime by that witness, and strike that
answer, so far as it was not responsive, from t‘hAo
record. The conclusion which I reach is .pu‘rtiy due
to the fact that I am convinced that the lta.t‘ement
made is not one which would necessarily or probably
prejudice this defendant before this jury. It is
also due to the fact that on your crosé-examination
of the wit ness, you elicited answers which were a..l.ong
the same lime a8 thal response to which you objected.
‘IER. COHKEN: Yes, your Hono‘r, but your Honor. w‘ill‘
remember I said two or three times not to 'refer to
it, I asked him specifically not to mention it, and
I remember the expre ssion‘l‘ used, which was "to cut
it out"; those were the very words I used.

THE COURT: T will pive you an éxception, Counsél,
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Mt . COHEN: I except. The Defendant rests.
MR, McGUIRE: The People rest.

M, COHEN: If your Honor please, on the whole

case I renew the motions made at the CIQIO of the
People's case, to teke away the count of Robbery i!'l
the first desree, on the ground that the P‘eopiq; mn 2]
failed © make out a case on the count of ro'b'bory in
itg first depree. I also renew the motibn made at =

the close of the People's case to direct the jury to

acquit, on the ground that the People havevfailod to
make out a case of robbery in ‘thevfirat’ dc,grp’cg.;g;;
any other kind, which your Honor denies, and we re-

spectfully except?

THE COURT: Motion denied. Fxception.

I, COHREN: Kxception, and I renew my mot i'on in
which I asked vour Honor to dir ect this to be ‘r'eg:ard-
ed asa mistrial for the same reason which I ursd at

the close of the People's cé.se.

THK COURT: Motion denied, and exception.

MR, COHKN: Exception. = : |



THR COURT'S CHARGE: .

HON, THOMAS C, T. CHALN, J,

v

THE COURT: Gentlamen of the Jury, the defendant
Frank V. Walsh is before yu, charged with the orime |

of Robhery in tﬁe first degree. That is the oﬁly
crime with which he is now charged. ‘

You, Gentlemen of the J’nr'yl, are the esclusive
judeges of the facts. The evidence is doubtless pres-
ent to your minds, end it is i’ron your roeel.lnjtoh
of the evidence and the rules of law to be stated 4
to you in the charge that you are to dotorhiu the
question of the guilt or the innocence of this de-
fendant .

You are not to be influenced in thov..llightclt
by any 8 sument which has taken place in court in
vour presence on questions of law. You are not to
construs or com ider any d« ermination or decision
reached by the Court after any such argmont; as
bearing in the slightest upon the question of what
your w rdiet should be #n this case. No decision by
the Court of any quastion arising upon any motion of
Coungel is in any sense any intimation by the Court

of whe t view you should take of the evidence in this




o

oase., Yo¥ gentlemen, as I satd before, m ﬂw
olusive judges of the facts.

The defondant comes 0 the bar with the Jresusps
‘ ” tion of innocence. He is presumed to be innooent,
b £ and that presumption goes with him all mou.h 'lﬁ.
éuo. The burden of proef is upon the »pnm»m
at all ti mes during the case. In ovrdu"'t"‘!'n;‘.r .
vardict of guily am inlﬁ this defendant, you must

be satisfied deyond a reasonable doubt of his guilt

of the crime cherged in the indictment, or of ons

of the lesser degrees of that crimeas I will nm’

the constituent elements of the crime and of the

st g 7

leszsr degrees.
The defandant is not be prejudiced in yowr minds
in the slig}{ﬁost degrae by the fact that he did not

t2 Xe the stend as a witness., That is his privilege.

I+ is his privileze to contend through his coimul -

that the facts established by the testimony or the

: ; inferences to be drawn from the testimony are net

e such and of such &« character as to warrsnt at yow
hends a convietion, and 'f}« fe.ct that he has not
taken the stand, but has argusd on the basis of the

CAnsufficiency of the testimony ;;dejtl.':od; is in no

pense to he ta ken against him when you @ me t0 ®n-



sider the g stion of his muilt or innooence in the |

jury-roon. No man is to be convioted on & guess ﬂ'
a surmise. The law requires proof --not nounlfm
the direct evidenoce of someone who has plrmv R
seen the m currence tir cughous every stage crﬂum"
currence, but if not by direct testimony, tho»n h’ |
circumgta ntial evidence which 1l. 80 p&mntn that
reasonable minds can reach but one 6onolnltou re- |
speoting 1ts cogency, its force, its effeot, and that it
corclus ion in the directien of and as establishing
the guilt of the cne wvho is at the bar in snswer %o
the charge made by the Psopla.

The law says, respecting the testimony of an ace
complice, that a conviction oannof bo‘ha.d upon such
testimony unless he be corroborated by such otler

evidence as te nds to connect the aorond;nt w'lth the

commission of the crime. In other words, the stery
of the sccongl ice, in and by itself, is not enough. |
The story of an saccomplice, plus proof tl;nt a aime 1
has been committed, is not enough. The storynof i
the accomplice must be corroborated by nidonﬁo which

connects the defendant with the commission of the

orime. Otherwise, in the absence of such cv“on. ’

the wrdict must b one of acquittal,




logically and system tic ally to the \ﬂt if ilt Nu
quirems nts of the law.  That is to uﬁm m m
hand you have rot to wses what the law says must “
proved in order to establish the offense, end ﬁﬁ

you must measure the tastimony offered by ﬁmt m

ard of proof which the law requires, and after that

messuring yu must see whaiher the ttltm does
measure up to what the law seys must be proved; and
i you say that it does not, thin you must acquit,
and 1f you say tht you have a reasonable doubt as
tn whether &t Jdoes or not, then you muit loiimit. Ir

Ay')u sey that jou have a reascnable doubt u to whe-

- ther it does or not respeoctine some single element

which enters into the elaments constituting the of-
fense charred or the lesser degrees of thtt'-@trlnn.
then, in that event, you nust acquit, l

Now, T will read to you from the law thos e pore
tions of the definit ion of ro‘nbor:/v whic h are pcrtin-
ent in eonrection with the evidence adduced in this

ocasel

Robhery ie the unlawful faking of personmal prop-

"

erty in the presence of anot her, againet his will,

by mears of force or violence.
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vDou the testimony in this case show
reasonable doubt that there was sa M mll
" of persoml property by this Moma‘l!--!lwt this

def endunt took personal property unltwmny from M
presence of the complaining witness i‘otto_r!-»—!hﬂf
; | this defendant took personal property unlawfully

from the pre sence of Woster by forcs or violence?

Robbery in the first desree, which is charged in

the indictment, is whers \suoh unlawfuk tukﬂ}'ng_. is ac-

complished by force, being aided by an u”l&ﬂ.

actually present; and I have read you u.r.zy t*“

portions of tie sectlon defining robbery in the tirst

dngree which by possibility me y be conuid:ﬂ‘d"d" applic-

able v the evidence as adduced in this om; ; & P >
Was Kelly the accomplice of Walsh for the ‘purp-

ose of w robbery? Wers they méroly ther,’« to;d‘h,-r.

if you shall say that they were there td\g.th.r. for

some purpose 80 faur as they were unitedly ,qonoarhoﬂ.

other than roovbery? Wes robbery the indt,veulont'

thought o one.of them, and not of both of them? 'Q,l‘ B

1t un wet which was done by one of them wit hout tho . ‘ i

Other being an accomplice to 41t? |
To hold tus defendant Walsh guilty of thl or ime

b of roeboery in the first degree, you must be u“lfl.d



bayond a reasonable doubt, from the

case, that the robbery was effected by t»cﬁ ﬂﬂ
accomplice actu lly present. | T

Tho law says that under oort‘o.ln’ctr.oﬁ '
where a o ime is divided into different Iomg
a jury may conviot of a lesser degree thnﬁutw‘» i
ed in the 1ndlctm¢nf; but a verdiet in lltmfﬂt- : |
. gree carmot be rendered simply because & Jury do not i
» lieve from the evidence that the dufmdi.t;t s !

guilﬁr in the hig her degree, unless thoy .1'0 be-~

lieve, as an independeht fact, that he ;‘.k
mc lesser degree; and the same rule rcapcct:lng:tm
presunption of inmoosnce applies to thc lesser _'dogru_

as to the greater, and the same rule roapodtgng the

&
burden of proaof, and the same prlhcipl'n. u\uf 1}' ap~-
plisd in the testing of the tufticiency of ths ev- |
id encs. | |

Robbery in the second degree is such unlawful
teking, when accomplished by force, but 'no.t under
circumstences smount ing to robbaery in the ft‘ st de-~
gree, by the use of violence, or by putting the pere
80n o bhed in fear of lmmediate injury. When force
i @ploy‘uu, Whe degree of force is ilmmaterial. The

Torce must be euployed, however, either to obtain
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" other ig robbery =«--I do not oha.rgc that, because

or retain possession of the property, or “ i
or owrcoms resistance %o the taking., If ploye
merely as a means of escaps, it does not om

robbery.

3

The taking of proparty from the person of w

there 1g no evidence here that any prop‘.rty was ’“ !

from the person Of the eomplaining witness.

R . COHEN: Will your Honor say something about
the pe sence of the proparty heling necessary; _thit
he had to l've it thers befors it could be taken?
The jwy muast i nd that the property was thm.' ve-
fores there oould be robnery,

T (‘:()U.i’i’: fou have to find, Gentlemen of the
Jury, as ‘u substantive faot from the wholn tol‘tllony.
thut the complaining witness had, at the time of the
Coourrsnce a alleged occurrence set forth in the 1!-
dlc tment, property of which he could have been robbed

at the place where the robbery is said to have taken

pPlics.

Gentlemen of the Jury, 1 will only add this in
come lusion: This is perhaps pdculh.rly a oase for
4;11.3

axsrcise of Iintelligent, keen and discriminating

Judmeont respecting the suftioiency of the evidence



regarding the charge laid in ‘th‘ iha“’hﬂl. lt is o
case for the banighment of all prajudton. It is . 4
case for an analytical, careful, thought ful mm
stion of the testimony., Tt is & came where, in view
of the chearg made and the clroumstance ..tht! no ‘IW
imony by word o wmouth has been prodncod)lm for

the defengant, coming from witnesses subpoenaed by

him, the sufi‘;icia noy ¢ the evidence sdduced by the
progsecution ms to be tested with csre and u-crwn-'
ating judgment, tc see whethsr avery single mconur
step in the sakinge ocut of that dagres of yroat which
the lav seys mst be made out in order to oonﬂvtg
hae in polnt of fact bsen done 0 such an uﬁnt
that no reasome bls doubt axists in the mind of nny'
juror respscting the sufficilency of thé svidence it~
s=lf,

Are there any requests to charge?

k. COKEN: ¥o sir, no requests, and no }cxaop-

t .‘- CNE.

- VHE COUET: Centlemen of the Jury, u mey retire.
The jury retired at 2:55 P, M,

lhe jury returned o thes cowrt room at



|
.?
! 1.—,,5
i
!
i
£
3.«
1

e i s i A

4 o'ciock P. ¥., and stated that thw m
'om.o t0 an agreesmont, : b

THE COURT: I want to isk you one _quuﬂdaz h
thers any reascnable prospect, in your copindon, “
the jury amme eing, Mr., Zor eman?

T8 FORKMAN: ¥Mo sir, |

THE COUXT: Is there any point upon'whl.t‘lhkm; :
want further enlightemmment by thcn'COurt', Grr bvb you
understcod the charge as mado? ‘ .

JHE FORHKKAN: There 1s nothing that I know of,
vour Honor. | ' |

THE COURT: Th,éxx I will disbharge t'.ho;‘Jury. The
Jury are dischargsd from further oonal}d.r&tion of
this came.
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